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2010 Chairmans Letter

It has been an eventful first year since our Initial Public Offering IPO on April 21 2010 By the end of

the year we had fully invested the prócôeds from our 1PO acquired 13 premium-branded select-service hotels

initiated meaningful regular dividend and comp1eted an $85 million credit facility further increasing the

strength andfiexibility of our balance sheet

Our vision is to build the leading lodging real estate investment trust REIT focused on premium-

branded select-service hotels in high growth markets with barriers to entry concentrated primarily in the 25

largest MSAs We have established solid foundation to achieve that vision We believe the opportunities to

acquire our target hotels are very attractive based on the belief that we are in the early stages of lodging

recovery

In the public markets we are one of only three public lodging REITs focused on select-service hotels

including the premium-branded extended-stay segment Our extensive industry relationships have allowed us

to source the majonty of our acquisitions off-market This has enabled us to acquire 13 top quality assets

comprisiig 1650 rooms for approximately $209 million or approximately $127000 per room The hotels

were purchased well below replacement cost and at attractive unleveraged yields of approximately percent

in 2010 We blieve these properties will benefit from selective upgrades stronger manaemeni and asset

management and reboundirig ecOnomy

Our senior management team has more than -55 combined years
of indusry experience Based on our.

evaluation of market conditions we determined that the combination of decline in operating performance

and reduction in the availability of debt financing had placed significant pressprn on hotel owners as hotel

values declined over several
year period In 2009 the lodging industry experienced the third highest decline

in reVenue per
available room RevPAR key operating benchmark in the past80 years Beginning in

March 2010 after 19 ºonsecutive months of lower year-over-year RevPAR the hotel industry began to

recover We entered the public market the following month with strong balance sheet and capital structure to

acquire assets during this pivotal phase of what we believe will be protracted lodging recovery

Further improving our position is the outlook for new supply of hotel rooms which are expected to

remain at historically low levels for the next several years due to limited availability of debt financing and the

length of time required to get new development underway

Hotel industry operating performance historically correlates with U.S GDP growth number of

economists and government agencies currently predict that the U.S economy will grow over the next several

years We believe that U.S GDP growth together with limited supply of new hotels will result in improved

lodging industry RevPAR and hotel operating profits

This confluence of events bodes well for our target portfolio of select-service hotels and should help

produce solid long-term operating results Our property-model is based on the segments historic track record

that shows that premium-branded select-service hotels generate high profit margins as result of high

RevPAR levels and lower operating costs We believe this favorable select-service hotel operating leverage

will generate attractive profit flow-through and excellent risk-adjusted returns compared to other lodging

asset classes

Our
pace

of acquisitions earnings and funds from operations were well ahead of our 2010 strategic goals

set at the time of our initial public offering This allowed us to initiate paying an attractive dividend on our

common stock in the first full quarter following our IPO with yield of 4.1 percent based on our year-end

closing stock price of $17.25

To support our aggressive plans and provide us with optimum flexibility to respond to market conditions

we enhanced our balance sheet with the completion of an $85 million secured credit facility which can be

expanded to $110 million at our discretion Concurrently we accelerated renovations on the acquired initial

hotels to position them for improved performance in order to take advantage of the expected expanding

economic growth in 2011



We continued to enhance our balance sheet as we entered 2011 In February we completed $74 million

follow-on common share equity offering adding further strength and flexibility to our balance sheet With the

funds -we have available for investment we have developed an active pipeline with well over $200 million in

potential acquisitions including the acquisition of the Residence Inn by Marriott Pittsburgh University Medical

Center which is expected to close in the 2011 second quarter Upon completion of-that acquisition we have

the capacity to purchase up to $100 million in additional assets and increase our portfolio value by

approximately 40 percent while maintaining leverage below 35 percent

Our goal is to maintain our long-term leverage at ratio of net debt to investment in hotels at cost at

less than 35 percent However at this early stage of the lodging cycle recovery we are comfortable with

temporarily and prudently increasing our leverage to take advantage of opportunities available to us

Future growth through acquisitions will be funded by both common and preferred equity capital the

draw-down of our credit facility as well as the incurrence or assumption of individually secured hotel debt at

todays historically low-levels

The economic recovery that began to gain traction this year appears to be gaining momentum both in the

United States and globally continuing recovery in the economy will ultimately reduce unemployment

improve the housing industry build personal wealth and confidence and propel the lodging industry throughout

the cycle Additionally expectations that demand -will outpace iiew supply grQwth will improve our ability to

increase room rates and generate incremental operating profits and margin performance

We are optimistic about the outlook for our industry and remain confident about our ability to provide

meaningful returns tO our shareholders As we grow our portfolio through accretive acquisitions and benefit

from improved revenues and profitability from our portfolio Our -board has indicated support for increasing

the dividend on reasoned and prudent basis

We believe 2011 and bóyond will be excellent growth years for the industry and for Chatham We intend

to acquire quality assets at attractive prices improve their returns through knowledgeable asset management

and seasoned proven management while remaining prudently leveraged

Thank you for your support

Sincerely

77L
Jeffrey Fisher

Chairman Chief Executive Officer and President

April 14 2011
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act

of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and as such may involve known and

unknown risks uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results performance or achieve

ments to be materially different from future results performance or achievements expressed or implied by

such forward-looking statements Forward looking statements which are based on certain assumptions and

descnbe our future plans strategies and expectations are generally identified by our use of words such as

intend plan may should will project estimate anticipate believe expect continue

potential opportunity and similar expressions whether iii the negative or affirmative All statements

regarding our expected financial position business and financitig plans are forward-looking statements Factors

which could havea material adyerse effect on our operations andfuture prospects include those.discussed in

Business Risk Factors Managements Discussion and Analysisof Financial Condition and Results of

Operations and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Farm 10-K These risks and uncertainties should be

considered in evaluating any forward-looking statement contained ii this report or incorporated by reference

herein
------

All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this rejort or in the case of any document

incorporated by- referenc the date of that docuthentAll subsequent written and oral forward-looking

statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are- qualified by the cautionary statements in

this section We--undertake noobligation to update or publiclr release any revisions to forward-looking

statements to reflect eventh circumstances or changes in expectations after the date of this report except as

required by law --



PART

Item Business

Overview

Chatham Lodging Trust was formed as Maryland real estate investment trust on October 26 2009 and

intends to elect to qualify as real estate investment trust REIT for federal income tax purposes

beginning with its short taxable year ended December 31 2010 We are internally managed and were

orgamzed to invest primarily in premium branded upscale extended-stay and select service hotels

We completed our initial public offering the IPO on April 21 2010 The IPO resulted in the sale of

8625000 common shares at $20.00 price per..share generating $172.5 million in gross proceeds Net

proceeds after underwriters discounts and commissions and other offering costs wereapproximately

$158.7mi1lion Concurrently with the closing Of the IPO in separate private placement pursuant to

Regulation under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act we sold 500000 ofoli

common shares to Jeffrey Fisher our Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer at the public

offering price of $20 00
per

share for proceeds of $10 million

We had no operations prior to the.consummation Of the Following the closing.of theIPO we
contributed the net proceeds from the IPO and the concurrent private placement together with the proceeds of

our February 2011 offering to Chatham Lodging L.P the Operating Partnership in exchange for partnership

interests in the Operating.Partnership Substantially all of our .assets are held by and all of our operations are

conducted through the Operating Partnership Chatham Lodging Trust is the sole general partner of the Operating

Partnership and owns 100% of the common units of the limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership

Certain of our executive officers hold unvested long-term incentive plan units in the Operating Partnership which

are presented as noncontroiling interests on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet

On February 2011 we completed public offering that resulted in the sale of 4600000 common

shares at $16.00 per share generating $73.6 million in gross proceeds Net proceeds after underwriters

discounts and commissions and other offering costs were approximately $69.0 million

As of December 31 2010 we owned 13 hotels with an aggregate of 1650 rooms located in states To

qualify as REIT we cannot operate the hotels Therefore the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries lease

the hOtels to wholly owned lessee subsidiaries of our taxable REIT subsidiaries mSLessees Each hotel is

leased to TRS under percentage lease that provides for rental payments equal to the greater of fixed

base rent amount or ii percentage rent based on hotel room revenue The initial term of each of the TRS

leases is
years Lease revenue from each TRS Lessee is eliminated in consolidation Our TRS Lessees have

entered into management agreements with third party management companies that provide day-to-day manage
ment for our hotels Island Hospitality Management Inc IHM which is 90% owned by Mr Fisher manages

hotels Homewood Suites Management LLC IAH Manager subsidiary of Hilton Worldwide Inc

Hilton manages hotels and Concord Hospitality Enterprises Company Concord manages hotels

Our portfolio includes upscale extended-stay hotels that operate under the Homewood Suites by Hilton

brand seven hotels and Residence Inn by Marriott brand three hotels as well as premium-branded select-

service hotels that operate under the Courtyard by Marriott brand one hotel the Hampton Inn and Suites by

Hilton brand one hotel and the SpringHill Suites by Marriott brand one hotel

Upscale extended-stay hotels typically have the following characteristics

principal customer base includes business travelers who are on extended assignments and corporate

relocations

services and amenities include complimentary breakfast and evening hospitality hour high-speed

internet access in-room movie channels limited meeting space daily linen and room cleaning service

24-hour front desk guest grocery services and an on-site maintenance staff and

physical facilities include large suites quality construction full separate kitchens in each guest suite

quality room furnishings pool and exercise facilities



Business Strategy

Our primary objective is to generate attractive returns for our shareholders through investing in hotel

properties at prices that provide strong returns on invested capital paying dividends and generating longrterm

value appreciation We believe we can create long-term value by pursuing the following strategies

Disciplined acquisition of hotel properties We invest primarily in jremium-branddd upscale

extended-stay and select-service hotels with focus on the 25 largest metropolitan markets in the

United States We focus on acquiring hotel properties at prices below replacement cost in markets that

have strong demand generators and where1 we expect demand growtlt will outpace new supply We also

seek to acquire properties that we believe are.tndermanaged or undercapitalized We currently do not

intend to engage in new hotel development

Management Date of

Location company Acquisition

Hilton April 23 2010 l999 147 $12.5 million $85714

We also mvest premium-branded select-service hotels such as Courtyard by Marnott Hampton Inn

and Suites and SpringHill Suites by Marriott The service and amenity offerings of these hotels typically

include complimentary breakfast high-speed internet access local calls in-room movie channels and daily

linen and room cleaning service

We focus primarily on hotels in the 25 largest metropolitan markets in the United States We believe that

current market conditions create attractive opportunities to acquire high quality hotels at cyclically low -prices

thatwill benefit from an improving economy and our äggressivØ asset management

The following sets forth certain information with respect to our 13 wholly-owned hotels at December 31

iz 2010

Purchaae

Year Number of Purchase Price per Assumed
Property Opened Rooms Price Room Debt

TJnaudited

Homewood Suites by Hilton

Boston- Billerica

I-- Bijlerica/BedfordlBurlington Massschusetts

--f- Homewood Suites by Hilton Bloomington

Minneapolis-Mail of Americs Minnesota Hilton April 23 2010 1998

Homewood Suites by Hilton Brentwood

Nashville-Brentwood Tennessee Hilton April 23 2010 1998

Homewood Suites by Hilton

Dallas-Market Center Dallas Texas Hilton April 23 2010 1998

Farmington

--

Connecticut Hilton April 23 2010 1999

Maitland

Florida Hilton April 23 2010 2000

Island

Hospitality November 2010 2008

Island

Hospitality July 2010

Concord August 24 2010 2001 $107619 $7.0 million

Concord August 24 2010 2000 86 $12.0 million $139535 $5.4 million

Island

Hospitality August 2010 2004 124 $21.3 million

Island

Hospitality September 23 2010 1982 133 $21.2 million $159398

Island

Hospitality October 2010 2000 124 $21.0 million $169355

1650 $208.8 million $126606 $12.4 million

On January 31 2011 we entered into contract to purchase hotel located in the greater Pittsburgh

Pennsylvania area for total purchase price of approximately $24.9 million

Homewood Suites by Hilton

Hartford-Farmington

Homewood Suites by Hilton

Orlando-Maitland

Homewood Suites by Hilton

Carlsbid North San Diego Carlsbad

County Califomia

Hampton Inn Suites Houston-

Medical Center

144 $18.0 miliion $125000

121 $11.3 million $93388

137 $10.7 millIOn $78102

.121 $11.5 million $95041

Courtyard Altoona

Houston Texas

Altoona

Pennsylvania

143 $9.5 million $66433

Sprinthill Suites Washington

Residence Inn Long Island

Holtsviile

145 $32.0 million

1997 120

105

$220690

$137500

Residence Inn White Plains

165 million

$11.3 million

Washington

Pennsylvania

Holtsville New

York

White Plains

New York

New Rochelle

New YorkResidence Inn New Rochelle

Total/Weighted Average

$171774



Opponunistic hotel repositioning We employ value-added strategies such as re branding renovating

1- or changing management when we believe such strategies will increase the operating results and values

of the hotels weacquire -- .- --

Aggressive asset management Although as REIT we cannot operate our hotels we proactively

manage our thirchparty hotel managers in seeking to maximize hotel operating performance Our-asset

I- management activities seek to ensure -that -our third-party -hotel managers effectively- utilize -franchise-

brands marketing programs develop effective sales- management policies and plans- operate properties

efficiently control costs and develop operational initiatives for our hotels that increase guest satisfac

tion As part of our asset management activities we regularly review opportumties to reinvest in our

hotels to maintain quality increase long-term value and generate attractive retums on invested capital

Flexible selection of hotel mahagement companies We are flexible in our selection of hotel

management companies and select managers- that we believe ifl maximize the performance of our

hotels We utilize both brand-affiliated management companies and independent management corqpa-

nies including IHM hotel management company 90% owned by Mr Fisher that currently manages

five of our hotels We believe this strategy increases the universe of potential acquisition opportumties

we can consider because many hotel properties are encumbered by long-term management contracts

Selective investment in hotel debt We may consider selectively investing in debt collateralized by

hotel property ifwe believe we can foreclose on or acquire ownership of th underlying hotel pl.operty

in the relative near term We do not intend to invest in any debt where we do not expect to gain

ownership of the underlying property or to originate any debt financing

We plan to maintain prudent capital structure and intend to limit our consolidated indebtedness nŁt of

cash to not more than 35% of our investment in hotel properties at cost defined as our imtial acquisition

-- price plus the
gross amount of any subsequent capital investment and excluding any impairment charges

measured at the time we incur debt and subsequent decrease in property values will require us to repay

debt Over time we intend to fmance our growth with issuances of common and preferred shares and debt

Our debt may include mortgage debt collateralized by our hotel properties and unsecured- debt --

When purchasing hotel properties we may issue limited partnership interests in our operating partnership

-- as --full or patial consideration to sellers who may desire to take advantage of tax deferral on the sale of

hotel-or participate in the potential appreciation in value of our common shares

--
-- Competition

--

-- We face competition for the acquisition and investment in hotel properties froth institutional pension

funds pnvate equity investors REITs hotel compames and others who are engaged in the acquisition of

hotels Some of these entities have substantially greater financial and operational resources than we have This

--
competition may increase -the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell reduce the number of

-I suitable investment opportunities available to us and increase the cost of acquiring our targeted hotel

--- properties

The lodging industry is highly competitive Our hotels compete with other hotels for guests in each

--
market in which they operate Competitive advantage is based on number of factors including location

convenience brand affiliation room rates range of services and guest amenities or accommodations offered

and quality of customer service Competition is- often specific to the individual markets in which- our hotels are

located-and-includes competition from existing and new hotels Competition could adversely affect our --

occupancy rates and RevPAR and may require us to provide additional amemties or make capital improve

ments that we otherwise would not have to make which may reduce our profitability
--

Seasonality

Depeiiding on hotels location and market operations for the hotel may be seasonal -in nature This

-- seasonality -can be ex-pected to cause fluctuations in our quarterly operating profits -To -tht extent that -cash

flow from operations is insufficient during any quarter due to temporary or seasonal fluctuations in revenue



we expect to utilize cash on hand or borrowings under our credit facility to make distributions to our equity

holders

Regulation

Our properties are subject to various covenanfs laws ordinances and regulatIons including rŁgulatioæs

relating to common areas and fire and safety requirements We believe each of our hotels has the necessary

permits and to operate its business and each is adequately covered by insurance

Americans with Disabilities Act

Our properties must comply with Title ifi of the Amencans with Disabilities Act of 1990 ADA to the

extent that such properties are public accommodations as defined by the ADA Under the ADA all public

accommodations must meet federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons The ADA may

require removal of stmctural bamers to access by persons with disabilities in certain public areas of our

properties where such removal is readily achievable Although we believe that the properties in our portfolio

substantially comply with present requirements of the ADA we have not conducted comprehensive audit or

investigation 6f all of our properties to determine our compliaiice and one or more prOperties may not be

fully compliant with the ADA Noncompliance with the ADA could result in the incurrence of additional costs

to attain compliance The obligation to make readily achievable accommodations is an ongoing one and we

will continue to assess our properties and to make alterations as appropriate in this respect

Environmental Regulations

Under vaflou fedral stata atid locallaws ordinces and regulations an owriØr of real property may bt

liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certaln hazardous or tOxic Sbstanºes on or in such property

Such laws Often impose such 1iability withOut thgard to whether theowerew of or was responsible for the

presence of such hazardous or toxic substÆhôes ThecOst Of any tequired remediation and the owners liability

therefore as to apy proprty are generally not limited undcr sugh laws and could exceed the value of the

property and/or the aggregate assets of the owner The presence of such substances or the failure to properly

remediate contamination from such substances may adversely affect the owner ability to sell the real estate

or to borrow funds using such property as collateral which could have an adverse effect on our retum from

such investment

Furthethiore various court decisions have established that thirdparties may recover damages for injury

caused by relOaseof hazardous substances and for propertyconTtamination For instande person exposed to

asbestos while sorking ator staying in ahotel may seek to recover damages if he or she suffers injury from

the asbestos Lastly some of these environmental issues resthcttheuse of property or place conditions on

various activities One example is laws that require business using chemicals to manage them carefully and

to notify local officials if regulated spills occurs

Although it is our policy to require an acceptable Phase environmental survey for all real property in

which we invest such surveys are limited in scope and there can be no assurance that here are no hazardous

or toxic substances on such property that we would purchase We cannot assure y6ii that

future laws ordinancs or regulations will not impose matenal environmental liability or

the cuirent environmental condition of hotel will not be affected by the condition of properties in the

vicimty of the hotel such as the presence of leaking underground storage tanks or by tlurd parties

unrelated to us

TaxStatns

Upon filing our federal income tax retum for our hort taxable year ended December 31 2010 we will

elect to be taxed as REIT for federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of 186 as

amended .theCode Our qualification as RJIT depends upon our ability to meet on continuing basis

through actual imkestment and operating resultspvarious complex requirements under the Code relating to



among other things the sources of our gross income the composition and values of our assets our distribution

levels and the diversity of ownership of our shares of beneficial interest We believe that we were organized in

conformity with the requirements for qualification as REIT under the Code and that our current and intended

manner of operation will enable us to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as REIT for

federal income tax purposes commencing with our short taxable year ended December 31 2010 and

continuing thereafter

As REIT we generally will not be subject to federal inCome tax on our REIT taxable income that we

distribute currently to our shareholders Under the Code REITs are subject to numerous organizational and

operational requirements including requirement that they distribute each year atleàst90% of their taxable

income deterimned without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gains If

we fail to qualify for taxation as REIT in any taxable year and do not qualify for certain statutory relief

provisions our income for that year will be taxed at regular corporate rates and we will be disqualified from

taxation as REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which we ceased to qualify as REIT

Even if we qualify as RE1T for federal income tax purposes we may still be subject to state and local taxes

on our income and assets and to federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income Additionally

any income earned by our TRS Lessees will be fully subject to federal state and local corporate income tax

Hotel Management Agreements

We assumed the existing hotel management agreements in place at six of otir hotels the Boston

Billerica Homewood Suites Minneapolis-Bloomington Homewood Suites Nashville-Brentwood Homewood

Suites Dallas Homewood Suites Hartford-Farmington Homewood Suites and Orlando-Maitland Honidwooft

Suites all of which are managed by Promus Hotels Inc subsidiaryof Hilion Hotels Worldwide

Hilton Each of these hotel management agreements became effective on December 20 2000 has an initial

term qf 15 years and may be.renewed for an additional five-yearrperiod atthe anagers option by written

notice to us no later than 120 days prior to the expiration of the initial term

Under these six hotel management agreements the manager receives base management fee equal to 2%

of the hotel
gross room revenue and if certain financial thresholds are met or exceeded an incentive

management fee equal to 10% of the hotel net operating income less fixed costs base management fees

agreed-upon retum on the owners briginal inVestment and debt Service payments In addition to the

management fee franchise royalty fee equal to 4% of the hotels gross room revenue and program fees equal

to 4% of the hotelsgross room revenue are also payable-to Hilton See Hotel Franchise Agreements Prior

to April 23 2013 each of these six management agreements may be terminated for cause including the

failure of the managed hotel to meet specified performance levels and may be terminated by the manager in

the event we undergo change in control If the new owner.does not assume the existing management

agreement and does not obtain Homewoocl Suites franchise license upon such change of control we will

be required to pay termination fee to the manager Beginning on April 23 2013 we may terminate the six

Hilton management agreements upon six months notice to the manager without payment of termination fee

If we were to terminate the management agreements prior to the termination date we would be responsible for

paying termination fees to the manager

Our management agreements with Concord the manager of the Altoona Pennsylvania Courtyard and the

Washington Pennsylvania SpringHill Suites prdvidefor base managemeEt fees equal to 4% of the managed

hoteisgross room revenue The initial ten-year term of each management agreement expires on February 28

2017 antI will renew automatically for successive one-year terms unless terminated by our -TRS lessee or the

manager by written notice to the other party no later than 90 days prior to the then current terns expiration

date The management agreements may be terminated for cause including the failure of the managed hotel

operating performance to meet specified levels If we were to terminate the management agreements during

the first nine years of the term other than for breach or default by the manager we would be responsible for

paying termination fees to the manager

All of our remaining hotels as wóll as hotel we currently have -under contract to purchase are or will

be managed by IHM which is 90% ownºdby Mr Fisher.--Our management agreements withiHM have an



imtial term of five years and may be renewed for two five year penods at IIM option by wntten notice to

us no later than 90 days prior to the then current terms expiration date The llM management agreements

provide for early termination at our option upon sale of any 1MM-managed hotel for no termination fee with

six months advance notice The IHM thanagŁment agreements may be terminated for cause including the

failure of the ftianaged hotel tO meet specified performance levels Management greerneiits with IHM provide

for base managenient fee of 3% of the managed hotels gross revenues an accountihg fee of $1000 per

month per hotel and if certain financial thresholds are met or exceeded an incentive management fee equal to

10% of th hotels net operating income less fixed costs base management fees and specified return

threshold The hicentive management fee is capped at 1% of gross hotel revenues for the applicable

calculation

Hotel FrÆnchisº Agreements

Qur TRS Lessees have entered into franchise agreements fpr our hotels and will enter into new

franchise agreement for the hotel we have under contract to purchase Our TRS Lessees have entered into new

hotel franchise agreements with Promus Hotels Inc subsidiary of Hilton as manager for our six Hornewood

Suites by Hilton hotels Each of the new hotel franchise agreements has an initial term of 15 years and ræay

be renewed for an additional 5-year term

Tjese Hilton hotel franchise agreements provide for franchise royalty fee equal to 4% of the hotels

gross rdom revenue and program fee equal to 4% of the hotels
gross room revenue The Hilton franchise

agreements provide that the franchisor may terminate the franchise agreement in the event that the applidable

franchiiee fails to cure an event of default or in certain circumstances such -as the franchisees bankruptcy or

insolvency are terminable by Hilton at will

Our TRS Lessees have entered into franchise agreements with Marriott International Inc Marriott

relating to our Residence Inn properties in Holtsville New York New Rochelle New York and White Plains

New York our Courtyard property in Altoona Pennsylvania and our SpringHill Suites property in Washington

Pennsylvania These franchise agreements have initial terms ranging from 152 to 20 years and will expire

between 2025 and 2030 None of the agreements has renewal option The Marriott franchise agreements

provide for franchise fees ranging from iO% to 5.5% of the hotels grossroom sales and marketing fees

ranging from 2.0% to 2.5% of the hotels gross room sales The Marriott franchise agreements are terminable

by Marriott in the event that the applicable franchisee fails to cure an event of default or in certain

circumstances such as the franchisees bankruptcy or insolvency are terminable by Marriott at will The

Marriott franChise agreements proide that in the event of proposed transfer of the hojel our TRS Lessees

interest in the agreement or more than specified amount of the TRS Lessee to competitor of Marriott

Marriott has the right to purchase or lease the hotel under terms consistent svith those contained in the

respective offer and may terminate if our TRS Lessee elects to proceed with such transfer

The Hampton Inn Suites Houston-Mdical Center is governed by franchise agreement with

Hampton Inns Franchise LLC Ham$on Inns The franchise agieement has an initial term of approxi

mately 10 years and expires on July 31 2020 TheFe is no reiiewal option The Hampton Inns franchise

agreement provides for monthly program fee equal to 4% of the hotels gross rooms revenue and monthly

rOyalty feC equal 5% of the hotels gioss roOmirevenue HamptOn Inns may terminate the franchise

agreement in the event that the franchisee fails to cure an event of default or certain circumstances such as

the franchisee bankruptcy or insolvency Hampton Inns may terminate the agreement at will

The Carlsbad-North San Diego County hotel is governed by franchise agreement with Promus

Homewood Suites Franchise LLC The franchise agreement has an initial term of 18 years and is non

renewable The franchise agreement provides for franchise royalty fee equal to 4% of the hotels gross room

revenue and program fee equal to 4% of the hotels gross room revenue The franchise agreement has no

termination rights unless the franchisee fails to cure an event of default in accordance with the franchise

agreements



Ground Leases

The Altoona hotel is subject to ground lease with an expiration date of April 30 2029 with an option of

up to 12 additional terms of five years each Monthly payments are determined by the quarterly average room

occupancy of the hotel as follows with base rent equal to approximately $6 thousand per month when monthly

occupancy is less than 85% and can increase up to approximately $20 thousand per month if occupancy is

100% which rent shall be increased on an annual basis by two and one-half percent 2.5%

In connection with the New Rochelle hotel there is an air rights lease and garage lease that expire öæ

December 2104 The lease agreements with the City of New Rochelle cover the space above the parking

garage
that is occupied by the hotel as well as 128 parking spaces in the parking garage that is attaclied to the

hotel The annual base rent for the leases is our proportionate share of the citys adopted budget for the

operations management and maintenance of the garage and established reserves fund for the cost of capital

repairs

The following is schedule of the minimum future obligation payments required under the ground air

nghts and garage leases in thousands

2011 zoi

2012 203

2013 205

2014 207

2015 210

Thereafter 11871

Total 12897

Condominium Leases

The White Plains hotel is part of condominium known as La Reserva Condominium the Condomin

ium The Condominium is comprised of 143 residential units and four commercial units The four

commercial units are owned by us and are part ofthe White Plains hotel The White Plains hotel is comprised

of 129 of the residential units owned by us and four residential units leased by us from unaffiliated thirdparty

owners The remaining 10 residential units are owned and occupied by unaffiliated third party owners

We lease residential units in the White Plains hotel from individual owners the Condo Owner The

lease agreements are for years with one-time year renewal option The White Plains hotel shall have the

right to sublease the unit to any third party Hotel Guest for such rent and on such terms as the White

Plains hotel may determine Each Condo Owner mayreserve the unit for seven days in any calendar

quarter or two weeks in any calendar year The White Plains hotel will have no obligation to pay rent

during such period Each Condo Owner is also obligated to reimburse the White Plains hotel for renovations

that were completed in 2008 Minimum annual rents payable to the Condo Owner are approximately

$70 thousand per year and amounts receivable .from the Condo Owner for its renovation reimbursements are

approximately $11 thousand per year subject to balloon repayment at the end of the lease term of any

remaining reimbursements The White Plains hotel is responsible for paying assessments to the Condominium

association on monthly basis for all residential units owned and leased The White Plains hotel provides

certain services to the Condominium association for housekeeping maintenance and certain other servicesand

receives compensation from the Condominium association for said services

Employees

As of March 2011 we had five employees All persons employed in the day to dayoperations ofour

hotels are employees of the management companies engaged by our TRS Lessees to operate such hotels None

of our employees are represented by collective bargaining agreement
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Available Information

Our Internet website is www.chathamlodingtrust.com We make available free of charge through our

website ourannual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K

Section 16.reports on Forms 34 and and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to

Section 13a or 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of-1934 as amended as soon as reasonably practicable

after such documents are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission

SEC In addition our website includes corporate governance information including the charters for

committees of the Board of Trustees our Corporate Governance Guidelines Conflict of Interest Policy and

our Code of Business Conduct This information is available in print to any shareholder who requests it by

writing to Investor Relations Chatham Lodging Trust 50 Cocoanut Row Suite 216 Palm Beach FL 33480

The information on Our website is not and shall not be deemed to be part of this report or incorporated into

any other filings that we make with the SEC

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our business faces many-risks The risks described below may not be the only risks we faºe Additional

risks that we do not yet know of or that we currently believe are immaterial may also impair our business

operations If any of the events or circumstances described in the following risk factors actually occur our

business financial condition or results of operations could suffer our ability to make cash distributions to our

shareholders could be impaired and the trading price of our common shares could decline You should know

that many of the risks described may apply to more than just the subsection in which we grouped them for the

purpose of this presentation

Risks Related to Our Business

We have limited operating history which may affect our ability to generate sufficient operating cash flows

to make or sustain distributions to our shareholders

We were organized in October 2009 and have limited operating history Our ability to make or sustain

distributions to our shareholders depends on many factors including the availability of acquisition opportuni

ties that satisfy our investment strategies and our success in identifying and consummating them on favorable

terms readily accessible short-term and long-term financing on favorable terms and conditions in the financial

markets the real estate market the hotel industry and the economy We cannot assure you that we will be able

to acquire properties with attractive returns or will not seek properties with greater risk to obtain the same

level of returns or that the value of our properties in the future will not decline substantially

The purchase of the property we have under contract may not be consummated in timely manner

oratall

We have entered into an agreement to purchase hotel located in the greater Pittsburgh Pennsylvania

area The closing of the purchase of this hotel is subject to satisfaction of customary closing requirements and

conditions and there is no assurance that it will be consummated in timely manner or at all This transaction

whether or not it is successful requires substantial time and attention from management Furthermore this

potential acquisition requires significant expense including expenses for due diligence legal fees and related

overhead To the extent we do not acquire this hotel these expenses will not be offset by revenues from this

property If we do not consummate this acquisition in timely manner or at all- our financial results would be

adversely affected

Our investment policies are subject to revision from time to time in our boards discretion which could

diminish shareholder returns below expectations

Our investment policies may be amended or revised frbrn time to time at the discretion of our board Of

trustees without vote of our shareholders Such discretion could result in investments that may not yield

returns consistent with investors expectations
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We depend on the efforts and expertise of our key executive officers whose continued service is not

guaranteed

We depend on the efforts and expertise of our chief executive officer aswell as our other senior

executives to execute our business strategy The loss of their services and our inability to find suitable

replacements could have an adverse effect on our business

If we are unable to successfully manage our growth our operating results and financial condition could

be adversely affected

Our ability to grow our business depends upon our semor executive officers business contacts and their

ability to successfully hire train supervise and manage additional personnel We may not be able to hire and

train sufficient personnel or develop management information and operating systems suitable for our expected

growth If we are unable to manage any future growth effectively our operating results and financial condition

could be adversely affected

Our future growth depends on obtaining new financing and if we cannot secure financing in the future

our growth will be limited

The success of our growth strategy depends on access to capital through use of excess cash flow

borrowings or subsequent issuances of common shares or other secunties Acquisitions of new hotel properties

will require significant additional capital and existing hotels require periodic capital improvement initiatives tO

remain competitive We may not be able to fund acqiiisitiOns or capital improvementssolely from cash

provided from our operating activities because we must distribute at least 90% of our taxable income

determined before the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gains each year to satisfy

the requirements for qualification as REIT for federal income tax purposes As result our ability to fund

capital expenditures for acquisitions through retained earmngs is very limited Our ability to grow through

acquisitions of hotels will be lirmted if we cannot obtain satisfactory debt or equity financing which will

depend on capital markets conditions We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain additional equity or

debt financing or that we will be able to obtainsuch financing on favorable tenns

Although we are in various stages of reviewing and negotiating number of potential hotel properties for

potential acquisition we may be unable to invest proceeds from offerings of oursecurities

We will have broad authonty to invest the net proceeds of any offenng of our secunties in any real estate

investments that we may identify in the future and we may use those proceeds to make investments with

which you may not agree In addition our investment policies may be amended or revised from time to time

at the discretion of our board of trustees without vote of our shareholders These factors will increase the

uncertainty and thus the risk of investing in our common shafes Our failure td apply the net proceeds of any

offering effectively or to find suitable hotel properties to acquire in timely manner or on acceptable terms

could result in returns that are substantially below expectations or result in losses

Until appropriate investments can be identified we may invest the net proceeds of any offering of our

securities in interest-bearing short-term securities or money-market accountS that are consistent with our

intention to qualify as REIT These investments are expected to provide lower net return than we seek to

achiee from our hotel properties We may be unable to invest the net proceeds on acceptable terms or at all

which could delay shareholders from mceiving an appropriate return on their investment We cannot assure

you that we will be able to identify properties that meet our investment critena that we will successfully

consummate any investment opportumties we identify or that investments we may make will generate income

or cash flow

We must rely on third-party management companies to operate our hotels in order to qualify as REIT

under the Code and as result we have less control than if we were operating the hotels directly

Inorder for us to qualify as REIT third parties must operate our hotels We leaseeach of our hotels to

our TRS Lessees The TRS Lessees in turn have entered into management agreements with third party
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management companies to operate our hotels While we expect to have some input into operating decisions for

those hotels leased by our TRS Lessees and operated under management agreements we have less control

than if we were managing the hotels ourselves Even if we believe that our hotels are not being operated

efficiently we may not be able to require an operator to change the way it operates our hotels Jeffrey

Fisher our chief executive officer controls IHM hotel management company that currently manages five of

our hotels and may manage additional hotels that we acquire in the future See Conflicts of interest could

result in future business transactions between us and affiliates owned by our Chief Executive Officer below

Our management agreements could adversely affect the sale or financing of hotel properties and as

result our perating dults and ability to make distributions to our shareholders could suffer

While we would prefer to enter jnto flexible management contracts that will provide us with the ability to

replace hotel managers on relatively shprt notice and with limited cost we may enter into or acquire

properties subject to management contracts that contain more restrictive covenants For example the terms of

some managçment agreements may restrict our ability to sell property unlçss the purchaser is not

competitor of the manger and assumes the relaed management agreement and meets specified other

conditions Also the terms of long-term management agreement encumbering our properties may reduce the

value of the property If we enter into or acquire properties subject to any such management agreements we

may be precluded from iaking actions that vduld otherwise be in our best iCterest or could càtise us to incur

substantial expense which could adversely affect our operating results and our ability to make distributions to

shareholders Moreover the management agreements that we use in connection with hotels managed by IHTM

were not negotiated on an arms-length basis due to Mr Fishers control of IHl4 ard therefore may not contain

terms as favorable to us as we could obtain in an arms-length transaction with third party See Conflicts of

interest could result in future business transactions between us and affiliates owned by our Chief Executive

Officer below

Our franchisors could cause us to expend additional funds on upgraded operating standards which may
reduce cash available for distribution to shareholders

Our hotels operate under franchise agreements and we may become subject to the risks that are found in

concentrating our hotel properties in one orseveral franchise brands Our hotel operators must comply with

operating standards and terms and conditions imposed by the franchisors of the hotel brands under which our

hotels operate Pursuant to certain of the franchise agreements certain upgrades -are required every five to six

years and the franchisors may also impose upgraded or new brand standards such as substantially upgrading

the bedding enhancing the complimentary breakfast or increasing the value of guest awards under its

frequent guest program which can add substantial expense for the hotel The franchisors also may require us

to make certain capital improvements to maintain the hotel in accordance with system standards the cost of

which can be substantial and may reduce cash available for digtribution to our shareholders

Our franchisors may cancel or fail to renew our existing franchise licenses which could adversely affect

our operating results and our ability to make distributions to shareholders

Our franchisors periodically inspect our hotels to confirm adherence to the franchisors operating

standards The failure of hotel to maintain standards could result in the loss or cancellation of franchise

license We rely on our operators to cOnform to operational standards In addition when the term of

franchise expires the franchisor has no obligation to issue new franchise The loss of franchise could have

material adverse effect on the operations or the underlying value of the affected hotel because of the loss of

associated name recognition marketing support and centralized reservation systems provided by the franchisor

The loss of franchise Or adverse developments with respect to franchise barid under which our hotels

operate could also have material adverse effect on our financial condition of operations and cash

available for distribution to shareholders
-.-
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Fluctuations in our financial performance capital expenditure requirements and excess cash flow could

adversely affect our ability to make and maintain distribuilons to our shareholders.

As REIT we are required to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income each year to our shareholders

determined before the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gains In the event of

downturns in our operating results and financial performance or unanticipated capital improvements to our

hotels including capital improvements that may be required by franchisors we may be unable to declare or

pay distributions to our shareholders or maintain Our then-current dividend rate The timing and àmotint of

distributions are in the sole discretion of our board of trustees which considers among other factors our

financtal performance debt service obligations and applicable debt covenants if any and capital expenditure

requirements We cannot assure you we will generate sufficient cash in order to continue to fund distributions

Among the factors which could adversely affect our results of operations and distributions to shareholders

are reductions hotel ieveæues ihcreases in operating expertses at the hotels leased to our TRS Lessees

increased debtservice requirements including those resulting from higher interest rates on variable rate

indththdneni and Øapital expedittire alour hotels including capitalexpenditures required by the franchisoni

of our hotels Hotel revenue cÆii decrease fdr number reasons including increased competition from new

hotels anddecreased demand for hotel roonisThese factors canreduce both occupanCy and room rates at

hotels and could directly affect us negatively by

reducing the hotel revenue that we recognize with respect to hotels leased to our TRS lessees and

corfepondingiy reducing the prOfit ineneasing the loss of hotels leased to our TRS lessees We

may be unatile to educe many of our epØnses in tandem with revenue declines or we may choose

not to reduce them for competitive reasons and certain expenses may increase While our revenue

declines

Future debt service obligations could adversely affect our overall operating results or cash flow and may

require us to liquidate our properties which could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our

shareholders and our share price

We intend to use secured and unsecured debt to fmance long-term growth While we intend to target

overall debt levels of not more than 35% of our investment in hotel properties at cost defined as our initial

acquisition price plus the gross amount of any subsequent capital investment and excluding any impairment

charges our board of trustees may change this financing policy at any time without shareholder approval As

result we may be able to incur substantial additional debt including secured debt in the future Incurring

additional debt could subject us to many risks including the risks that

operating cash flow will be insufficient to make required payments of principal and interest

our leverage may increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions

we may be required to dedicate substantial portion
of our cash flow from operations to payments on

our debt thereby redicing cash available for distribution to our shareholders funds available for

operations and capital expenditures future business opportunities or other purposes

terms of any refinancing will not be as favorable as the terms of the debt being refinahced and

the terms of our debt may limit our ability to make disnibutions to our shareholders

If we violate covnants in our debt agreements we could be required to repay all or portion of our

indebtedness before maturty at time when we might be unable to arratige financing for such repayment on

attractive terms if at all

If we are unable to repay our 1Øbt obligations in the future we may be forced to refinance debt or
dispose of or encumber our assets which could adversely affect distributions to shareholders

If we do not have sufficient funds to repay our outstanding debt at maturity or before maturity in the

event we breach our debt agreements and our lenders exercise their right to accelerate repayment we may be
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required tO refinance the debt through additional debt or additional equity financings Covenants applicable to

our existing arid futtire debt.could impair our planned investment strategy and if violated result in default

If we are unable to refinance our debt on acceptable terms we may be forced to dispose of hotel properties on

disadvantageous terms potentially resulting in losses We have placed mortgages on certain of our hotel

properties to secure our credit facility have assumed mortgages on two other hotels we acquired and may
place additional mortgages on certain of our hotels to secure other debt To the extent we cannot meet any

future debt service obligations we will risk losing some or all of our hotel properties that are pledgçd to

secure Qur Qbligations to fpreclosure

Interest expense on our debt may limit our cash available to fund our growth strategies and shareholder

distributions.

Higher interest rates could increase debt service requirements on debt under our credit facility and any

floating rate debt that we incur in the future and could reduce the amount ayailable for djstribution to-our

shareholders as well as reduce funds available for our operations future business opportunities or other

purposes Interest expense on our credit facility is based on.floatjng interest rates

Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may adversely affect our results of operations

and our ability to make shareholder distributions.

We mayobtain in the future one or more fomrs of interest- rate protection in the form of swap

agreements interestrate
cap contracts or similar agreements to hedge agaiffst the possible negative effects

of interest rate fluctuations However such hedging implies costs and we cannot assure you that any hedging

will adequately relieve the adverse effects of interest rate indreases or that counterparties under these

agreement will honor their obligations there under Furthermore any such hedge agreements would subject us

to the risk of incurring significant non-cash losses on our hedges due to declines in interest rates if our hedges

were not considered effective under
applicable accounting standards

Joint venture investments that we make could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision making

authonty our reliance on joint venture partners financial condition and disputes between us and our

joint venture partners

We may co-invest in the future with third parties through partnerships joiht ventures or other entities

acquiring npn-cqntroliing interests in or sharjng rçspoibility for managing thq affair of property

partnership joint venture or other nnrity In such event we.would not be rfl position to exercise sple

decision-making authority regarding the property partnership joint venture or other entity Investments in

partnerships joint ventures or dther entities may under certaiti Øircumitances involve risks not present were

third party riot Iiivdlved inckiding the prissibility that joint venture pirthers might become baiikrupt or fail to

fund thefr share of required capital contributions Joint venture partners may have economic or other business

interests or goals which are inconsistent with our business interests or goals and may be in position to take

actions contrary to our policies or objectives Such investments may also have the potential nsk
9f impasses

on decisions such as sale because neither we nor the partner would have full control over the partnership or

joint venture
..

between us and partners mayrçsult in litigation or arbjtration that would inprease Qur expenses

and prevent our officers and/or trustees from focusing their time and effort on our business Consequently

actions by or disputes with partners .might result in subjecting properties owned by the partnership or joint

ventureto additional risk In addition we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-

party partners or co-venturers
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We may from time to time make distributions to our shareholders in the form of our common shares

which could result in shareholders incumng tax liability without receiiing sufficient cash to pay such

tax

Although we have no current intntion to do so we may in the future distribute taxable dividends that are

payable in cash or common sh res at the election of eaôh shareholder Taxable shareholders receiving such

dividends will be required to include the full àmunt of the dividend as ordinary income to the extent of our

current and- accumulated eatiuings and profits for federal income tax purposes Asa result shareholders may
be required to pay income taxes with respect to such dividends in excess of the cash dividends received If

shareholder sells the common shares that it receives as dividend in order to pay this tax the sales

proceeds may be less than the amount included in income with respect to the dividend depending on the

narket price of our shares at the time of the sale Furtheiinore with rØpe to certain non-U.S shareholders

we may be required to withhold federal income tax with respect to such dividends including in respect of all

or portion of such dividend that is payable in common shares In addition if significant number of our

shareholders determine to sell common shares in orderto pay taxes owed on dividends it may 5ut downward

pressure on the trading price of our common shares

Our conflict of interest policy my -not besuccsful inelimiizating the- influence of future conflicts of

interest that may arise between us and our trustees officers and employees

We have adopted -policy that any transaction- .agreement or relationship in which any of our- trustees

officers or employees has direct or indirect pecuniary interest must -be -approved by majority- of our

--

disinterested trustees Other than this policy however we have not adopted and may not adopt additional

-- formal procedures for the review and approyal ofconflict of-interest transactions generally As such our

policies and procedures may not be -successful in eliminatingthe influence of conflicts of interest

Conflicts of interest could -result in future business- tranractions between us and affiliates owned by our

Chief Executive Officer

Our chief executive officer Mr Fisher owns 90% of IHM hotel management company that currently

manages five of our hotels and may manage additional hotels that we acquire in the future Because Mr Fisher

is our Chief Executive Officer and controls IHM conflicts of interest may arise between us and Mr Fisher as

to whether and on what terms new management contracts will be awarded to IHM whether and on what terms

management agreements will be renewed upon expiration of their terms enforcement of the terms of the

management agreements and whether hotels managed by IHM will be sbld

Risks Related to the Lodging Industry

The lodging industy has expØrienced- recent significant declfries and failure of the lodging indusby to

exhibit improvement may adiersely affect our ability- to execute bur business strategy

The performance of the lodging industry has historically been closely linked to the performance of the

general economy and specifically growth in U.S GDP It is also sensitive to buness and personal

discretionary spending levels Declines in corporate budgets andonsumer demand -due adverse general

economic conditions risks affecting or reducing travel patterns lower cqnurner confidence or adverse political

conditioiis can -lower the revenues and profitability of our future
hotel prQperties and therefore the net

operating profits of our TRSs The current global economic downturnhas led to significant decline in

demand for products and services prOvided by the lodging industry lower occupancy levels and significantly

reduced room rates

substantial part -of our business strategy is based on thebelief -that the lodging markets in which we

invest will experience improving -economic fundamentals in the future We anticipate that- recovery will lagan

improvement in economic conditions However we cannot predict theseverity- or-length of the global

economic downturn or the extent-to which lodging industry fundamentals will improve In the event conditions

in the industry do not improve when and as we expect or deteriorate our ability to execute our business
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strategy would be adversely affected which could adversely affect our fmancial condition results of

operations the market price of our common shares and our ability to make distributions to our shareholders

Our ability to make distnbutions to our shareholders may be affected by vanous operating risks common

in the lodging industry

Hotel properties are subject to various operatingsisks common to the hotel industry many of which are

beyond our control including

competition from othdr hotel prôpetties in our prbspective markets some of which may have reater

marketing and financial resources

an over-supply or over-building of hotel properties in our prospective markets which could adversely

affect occupancy rates and revenues

dependence on business and commercial travelers and tounsm

increases in energy costs and other expenses affectiiig travel which may affect travel patterns and

reduce the number of business and commercial travelers and tourists

increases in qperating costs due to inflation and other factors that may not be offset by increased room

rates

necessity for periodic capital reinvestment to repair and upgrade hotel properties

changes in interest rates and in the availability cost and terms of debt financing

changes in governmental laws and regulations fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related

costs of compliance with laws and regulations fiscal policies and ordinances

unforeseen events beyond our control such as terrorist attacks travel related health concerns including

pandemics and epidemics such as H1N1 influenza swine flu avian bird flu and SARS political

instability regional hostilities imposition of taxes or surcharges by regulatory authonties travel related

accidents and unusual weather patterns including natural disasters such as hurncanes tsunarrus or

earthquakes

adverse effects of downturn in the economy or in the hotel industry and

risk generally associated with the ownership ofhotel properties and real estate as we discuss- in detail

below

These factors could reduce the net operating profits of our TRS Lessees and the rental inCome we receive

from our TRS Lessees which in turn could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our shareholders

Competition for acquisitions may reduce the number of properties we can acquire

We compete for hotel investment opportunities with competitors that may have different tolerance for risk

or have substantially greater financial resources than are available to us This competition may generally limit

the number of hotel properties that we are able to acquire and may also increase the bargaining power of hotel

owners seeking to sell making it more difficult for us to acquire hotel properthis on attractive terms or at all

Competition for guests may lower our hotels revenues and profitability

The upscale extended-stay and mid-price segments of the hotel business are highly competitive Our

hotels compete on the basis of location room rates and quality service levels reputation and reservation

systems among many other factors Many competitors will have substantially greater marketing and fmancial

resources than our operators or us New hotels create new competitors in some cases without corresponding

increases in demand for-hotel rooms The result in some cases may be lower revenue which would result in

lower cash available for distribution to shareholders

17



The seasonality of the hotel industry may cause fluctuations in our quarterly revenues that cause usto

borrow money to fund distributions to shareholders

Spine hotel properties have business that is seasonal in nature This seasonality can be expected to caise

quarterly fluctuations in revenues Quarterly earnings may be adversely affected by facçors outside our control

including weather conditions and poor economic factors As result we may have to enter into shorttenn

borrowings in order to offset these fluctuations in revenue and to make distributions to shareholders

The cyclical nature of the lodging industry may cause the return on our investments to be substantially

less than we expect

The lodging industry is highly cyclical in nature Fluctuations in lodging demand and therefore operating

performance are caused largely by general economic and local market conditions which subsequently affects

levels of business and leisure travel In addition to general economic conditions new hotel room supply is an

important factor that can affect the lodging industrys peiforthance andOverbuildirig has the potential to further

exacerbate the negative impact of an economic recession Room rates and occupancy and thus RevPAR tend

to increase when demand growth exceeds supply growth Dechne in lodging demand or continued growth in

lodging supply could result in returns that are substantially below expectations or result in losses which could

have matenal adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations and our ability to

make distributions to our shareholders

Due to our concentration in hotel investments downturn in the lodging industry would adversely affect

our operations and finanŁial cØndition

Our entire business is related to the hotel industry Therefore downturn in the hotel industry in general

will have material adverse effect on our revenues net operating profits and cash available to distribute to

shareholders

The ongoing need for capital expenditures at our hotel properties may adversely affect our financial

condition and limit our ability to make distributions to our shareholders

Hotel properties have an ongoing need for renovations and other capital improyements including

replacements from time to time of furniture fixtures and equipment The franchisors of our hotels also

require periodic capital imprrwements as condition of keeping the franchise licenses In addition our lenders

require us to set aside amounts for capital improvements to our hotel properties These capital improvements

may give rise to the following risks

possible envirOnmental problems

construction cost overruns and delays

possibility that revenues will be reduced temporarily while rooms or restaurants offered are out of

service due to capital improvement projects

possible shortage of available cash to fund capital improyements and the related possibility that

fInancing for these capital improvements may not be available on affordable terms

uncertainties as to market demand or loss of market demand after capital improvements have

..eg1in and

dispiites with franchisors/managers regarding compliance With relevant management/franchise

agreements

The costs of all these capital improvements could adversely affect our fmancial condition and amounts

available for distribution to our shareholders

18



The increasing use of Internet travel intermediaries by consumers may adversely affect our profitability

Some of our hotel rooms are booked through Internet travel intermediaries including but not limited to

Travelocity.com Expedia.com and Priceline.com As these Internet bookings indrease these interniediaries

may be able to obtain higher commissions reduôed room rates or other significant contract concessions from

and our management companies Moreover some Of these Internet travel intermediaries are attempting to

offer hotel rooms as commodity by increasing the importance of price and general indicators of quality

such as three-star downtown hOtel at the expense of brand identification These agencies hope that

consumers will eventually develop brand loyalties to their reservations system rather than to the brands under

.-i-I- which our properties are franchised Although most of the business for our hotels is expected to be derived

from traditional channels if the amount of sales made through Ititemet intennediaries increases significantly

room revenues may flatten or decrease and our profitability may be adversely affected

Future terrorist attacks or changes in terror alert levels could adversely affect travel and hotel demand

Previous terrorist attacks and subsequent terrorist alerts have adversely affected the U.S travel and

hospitality industries over the past several years often disproportionately to the effect onthe overall economy
The impact that terrorist attacks in the U.S or elsewhere could have on domestic and international travel and

-- our business in particular cannot be determined but any such attacks or the threat of such attacks could have

material adverse effect on our business our ability to finance our business our ability to insure our properties

and our results of operations and financial condition

Potential future outbreaks of contagious diseases such as HJN1 could have material adverse effect on

our revenues and results of operations due to decreased travel especially in areas significantly affected

by the disease

The widespread outbreak of infectious or contagious disease in the United States such as the H1N1

influenza could reduce travel and adversely affect the hotel industry generally and our business in particular

Uninsured and underinsured losses could adversely affect our operating results and our ability to make

distributions to our shareholders

We maintain comprehensive insurance on each of our hotel properties including liability terrorism fire

and extended coverage of the type and amount customarily obtained for or by hotel property owners There

can be no assurance that such coverage will continue to be available at reasonable rates Various types of

catastrophic losses like earthquakes and floods and losses from foreign terrorist activities such as those on

September 11 2001 or losses from domestic terrorist activities such as the Oklahoma City bombing may not

be insurable or may not be insurable on reasonable economic terms Lenders may require such insurance and

failure to obtain such insurance could constitute adefault under loan agreements Depending on our access to

capital liquidity and the value of the properties securing the affected loan in relation to the balance of the

loan default could have material adverse effect on our results of operations and ability to obtain future

financing

In the event of substantial loss insurance
coverage may not be sufficient to cover the full current

I- market value or replacement cost of the lost investment Should an uninsured loss or loss in excess of

insured limits occur we could lose all or portion of the capital we invested in hotel property as well as the

anticipated future revenue from that particular hotel In that event we might nevertheless remain obligated for

any mortgage debt or other financial obligations related to the property Inflation changes in building codes

and ordinances environmental considerations and other factors might also keep us from using insurance

proceeds to replace or renovate hotel after it has been damaged or destroyed Under those circumstances the

insurance proceeds we receive might be inadequate to restore our economic position on the damaged or

destroyed property
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Noncompliance with environmental laws and governmental regulations could adversely affect our operat

ing results and our ability to make distributions to shareholders

Under various federal state and local laws ordinances and regulations an owner of real property may be

liable for the costs of removal or rernediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances on or in such property

Such laws often impose such liability without regard to whether the owner knew of or was responsible for the

presence
of such hazardous or toxic substances The cost of any required remediation and the owners liability

therefore as to any property are generally not limited under such laws and could exceed the value of the

property and/or the aggregate assets of the owner The presence of such substances or the failure to properly

remediate contamination from such substances may adversely affect the owner ability to sell the real estate

or to borrow funds using such property as collateral which could have an adverse effect on our return from

such investment

Furthermore various court decisions have established that third parties may recover damages for injury

caused by release of hazardous substances and for property contamination For instance person exposed to

asbestos while working at or staying in hotel may seek to recover damages if he or she suffers injury from

the asbestos Lastly some of these environmental issues restrict the use of property or place conditions on

various activities One example is laws that require business using chemicals to manage them carefully and

to notify local officials if regulated spills occurs

Althoàgh it is our policy to require an acceptable Phase environmental survey for all real property in

which we invest such surveys are limited in scope and there can be no assurance that there are no hazardOus

or toxic substances on such property that we would purchase We cannot assure you

that future laws ordinances or regulations will not impose material environmental liability or

that the current environmental condition of hotel will not be affected by the condition of properties in

the vicinity of the hotel such as the presence of leaking underground storage tanks or by third parties

unrelated to us

Compliance with the ADA and other changes in governmental rules and regulations could substantially

increase our cost of doing business and adversely affect our operating results and our ability to make

distributions to our shareholders

Our hotel properties are subject to the ADA Under the ADA all places of public accommodation are

required to meet certain federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons Although we

intend to continue to acquire assets that are substantially in compliance with the ADA we may incur

additional costs of complying with the ADA at the time of acquisition and from time-to-time in the future to

stay in compliance with any changes in the ADA number of additional federal state and local laws exist

that also may require modifications to our investments or restrict certain further renovations thereof with

respect to access thereto by disabled persons Additional legislation may impose further burdens or restrictions

on owners with respect to access by disabled persons If we were required to make substantial modifications at

our properties to comply with the ADA or other changes in governmental rules and regulations our ability to

make expected distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected

The Employee Free Choice Act could substantially increase our cost of doing business and adversely

affect our operating results and our ability to make distributions to shareholders

number of members of the U.S Congress and President Obama have stated that they support the

Employee Free.Choice Act which if enacted would discontinue the current practice of having an open

process where both the union and the employer are permitted to educate employees regarding the pros and

cons of joining union before having an election by secret ballot Under the Employee Free Choice Act

employees would only hear the unions side of the argument before making commitment to join the union

The Employee Free Choice Act would permit unions to quietly collect employee signatures supporting the

union without notifying the employer and permitting the employer to explain its views before final decision

is made by the employees Once union has collected signatures from majority of the employees the
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employer would have to recognize and bargain with the union If the employer and the union fail to reach

agreement on collective bargaining contract within certain number of days both sides would be forced to

submit their respective proposals to binding arbitration and federal arbitrator would be permitted to create an

employment contract binding on the employer If the Employee Free Choice Act is enacted number of the

hotel properties we own or seek to acquire could become unionized

Generally unionized hotel employees are subject to number of work rules that could decrease operating

margins at the unionized hotels Ifthat is the case we believe that the unionization of hotel employees at

hotels that we acquire may result in significant decline in hotel profitability and value which could

adversely affect our fmancial condition results of operations the market price of our common shares and our

ability to make distributions to our shareholders

General Risks Related to Real Estate Industry

Illiquidity of real estate investments could significantly impede our ability to respond to adverse changes

in the performance of our hotel properties and adversely affect our financial condition

Because real estate thvestments.a.e relatively illiquid our ability to promptly sell one or more hotel

properties in our portfolio in response to changing economic financial and investment conditions may be

limited The real estate market is affected by many factors that are beyond our control inÆ1uding

adverse changes in international national regional and local economic and market conditions

changes in interest rates and in the availability cost and terms of debt fmancing

changes in governmental laws and regulations fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related

costs of compliance with laws and regulations fiscal policies and ordinances

the ongoing need for capital improvements particularly in older structures

changes in operating expenses and

civil unrest acts of God including earthquakes floods and other natural disasters which may result in

uninsured lossesand- acts of war or terrorism such as those that occurred on September 11 2001

We may seek to sell hotel properties in the future There can be no assurance that we will be able to sell

any hotel property on acceptable terms

Currently limited credit is available to purchasers of hotel properties and financing structures such as

CMBS which have been used to finance many hotel acquisitions in recent years have been reduced If

financing for hotel properties is not available or is not available on attractive terms it will adversely impact

the ability of third parties to buy our hotels As result we may hold our hotel properties for longer period

than we would otherwise desire and may sell hotels at loss

We may be required to expend funds to correctdefects or to make improvements before hotel property

can be sold We cannot assure you that we will have funds available to correct those defects or to make those

improvements In acquiring hotel property we may agree to lock-out provisions that materially restrict us

from selling that
property for period of time or impose other restrictions such as limitation on the amount

of debt that can be placed or repaid on that property These factors and any others that would impede our

ability to respond to adverse changes in the performance of our properties could have material adverse effect

on our operating results and financial condition as well as our ability to pay distributions to shareholders

Increases in our property taxes would adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our

shareholders

Hotel properties are subject to real and personal property taxes These taxes may increase as tax rates

change and as the properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities In particular our property taxes

could increase following our hotel purchases as the acquired hotels are reassessed If property taxes increase
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our financial condition results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our shareholders could be

materially and adversely affected and the market price of our common shares could decline

Our hotel properties may contain or develop harmful mold which could lead to liability for adverse

health effects and costs of remediating the problem

When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials mold growth may occur

particularly if the moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over period of time Some

molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants Concem about indoor exposure to mold has been increasing

as exposure to mold may cause variety of adverse health effects and symptoms including allergic or other

reactions As result the presence of mold to which hotel guests or employees could be exposed at any of our

properties could require us to undertake costly remediation program to contain or remove the mold from the

affected property which could be costly In addition exposure to mold by guests or employees management

company employees or others could expose us to liability if property damage or health concems arise

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our trustees and officers are limited

which could limit your recourse in the event of actions not in your best interests

Under Maryland law generally trustee is required to perform his or her duties in good faith in

manner he or she reasonably believes to be in our best interests and with the care that an ordinarily prudent

person in like position would use under similar circumstances Under Maryland law trustees are presumed to

have acted with this standard of care In addition our declaration of trust limits the liability of our trustees and

officers to us and our shareholders for money damages except for liability resulting from

actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money property or services or

active and deliberate dishonesty by the trustee or officer that was established by final judgment as

being material to the cause of action adjudicated

Our bylaws obligate us to indemnify our trustees and officers for actions taken by them in those

capacities to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law Our bylaws require us to indemnify each trustee

or officer to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in the defense of any proceeding to which he or

she is made or threatetied to be made party by reason of his or her service to us In addition we may be

obligated to advance the defense costs incurred by our trustees and officers As result we and our

shareholders may have more limited rights against our trustees and officers than might otherwise exist absent

the current provisions in our declaration of trust and bylaws or that might exist with other companies

Provisions of Maryland law may limit the ability of third party to acquire control of our Company and

may result in entrenchment of management and diminish the value of our common shares

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law MGCL applicable to Maryland real

estate investment trusts may have the effect of inhibiting third party from making proposal to acquire us or

of impeding change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide our common shareholders

with the opportunity to realize premium over the then-prevailing market price of such shares including

Business combination provisions that subject to limitations prohibit certain business combinations

-I

between us and an interested shareholder defined generally as any petson who beneficially owns

10% or more of the voting power of our shares or an affiliate of any interested shareholder for five

years after the most recent date on which the shareholder becomes an interested shareholder and

thereafter imposes special appraisal rights and special shareholder voting requirements on these

combinations and

Control share provisions that provide that our control shares defined as shares which when

aggregated with other shares controlled by the shareholder entitle the shareholder to exercise one of

three increasing ranges of voting power in electing trustees acquired in control share acquisition
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defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of ownership or control of control shares have no voting

rights except to the extent approved by our shareholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of

all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter excluding all interested shares

Additionally Title Subtitle of the MGCL permits our board of trustees without shareholder approval

and regardless of what is currently provided in our declaration of trust or bylaws to implement certain

takeover defenses such as classified board some of which we do not yet have These provisions may have

the effect of inhibiting third party from making an acquisition proposal for us or of delaying defemng or

preventing change in control of us under the circumstances that otherwise could provide our common

shareholders with the opportunity to realize premium over the then current market price

Provisions of our declaration of trust may limit the ability of third party to acquire control of our

Company and may result in entrenchment of management and diminish the value of our common shares

Our declaration of trust authorizes our board of trustees to isue tip to 500000000 common shares and

up to 100000000 preferred shares In addition our board of trustees may without shareholder approval

amend our declaration of trust to increase the aggregate number of our shares or the number of shares of any

class or series that we have the authority to issue and to classify or reclassify any unissued common shares or

preferred shares and to set the preferences rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified shares As

result our board of trustees may authorize the issuance of additional shares or establish series of common or

preferred shares that may have the effect of delaying or preventing change in control of our company

including transactions at premium over the market price of our shares even if shareholders believe that

change of control is in their interest

Failure to make required distributions would subject us to tax

In order for federal corporate income tax not to apply to earmngs that we distribute each year we must

distribute tO our shareholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable inCome determined before the deductions for

dividends paid and excluding any net capital gain To the extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement

but distribute less than 100% of our taxable income we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on our

undistributed REIT taxable income In addition we will be subject to 4% nondeductible excise tax if the

actual amount that we pay out to our shareholders in calendar year is less than minimum amount specified

under the Code Our only source of funds to make these distributions comes from distributions that we will

receive from our operating partnership Accordingly we may be required to borrow money sell assets use the

proceeds from this offering or make taxable distributions of our capital shares or debt seçurities to enable us

to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the distribution requirement and to avoid federal corporate

income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax in particular year

Failure to qualify as REIT or failure to remain qualified as REIT would subject us to federal income

tax and potentially to state and local taxes

We intend to elect to be taxed as REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our short

taxable year ended December 31 2010 upon the filing of our federal income tax return for that year However

qualification as REIT involves the application of highly- technical and complex provisions of the Code for

which only limited number of judicial and administrative interpretations exist Even an inadvertent or

technical mistake could jeopardize our REIT qualification Our qualification as REIT depends on our

satisfaction of certain asset income orgamzational distribution shareholder ownership and other requirements

on continuing basis

Moreover new tax legislation administrative guidance or court decisions in each instance potentially

applicable with retroactive effect could make it more difficult Or impossible for us to qualify as REIT if we

were .to fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year we would be subject to federal income tax including

any applicable alternative minimum tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates and distributions to

shareholders would not be deductible by us in computing our taxable income Any such corporate tax liability

could be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders which
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--- in turn could have an adverse impact on the value of our shares of beneficial interest If for any reason we

failed to qualify as REIT and we were not entitled to relief under certain Code provisions we would be

unable to elect REIT status for the four taxable years following the year during which we ceased to so qualify

which would negatively impact the value of our common shares

Our TRS Lessee structure subjects us to the risk Of increased hotel operating expenses that could

adversely affect our operating results and our ability to make distributions to shareholders

Our leases with our TRS Lessees require our TRS Lessees to pay us rent based in part on revenues froiæ

our hotels Our operating risks include decreases in hotel revenues and increases in hotel operating expenses

which would adversely affect our TRS Lessees ability to pay- us rent due under the leases including but not

limited to the increases in wage and benefit cOsts repair and maintenance expenses energy costs property

taxes insurance costs and other operating expenses

Increases in these operating expenses can have significant adverse impact on our financial condition

results of operations the market
price

of our common shares and our ability to make distnbutions to our

shareholders

The formation of our TRS Lessees increases our overall tax liability

Our TRS Lessees are subject to federal state and local income tax on their taxable income which

consists of the revenues from the hotel properties leased by our TRS Lessees net of the operating expenses

for such hotel properties and rent payments to us AccOrdingly although our ownership of our TRS Lessees

allows us to participate in the operating income from our hotel properties in addition to receiving rent that

operating income is fully subject to income tax The after tax net income of our TRS Lessees is available for

distribution to us

Our ownership of TRSs is limited and our transactions with our TRSs will cause us to be subject to

100% penalty tax on certain income or deductions if those transactions are not conducted on

arms length terms

REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRSs TRS may hold assets and earn

income that would not be qualifying assets or income if held or earned directly by REIT including gross

operating income from hotels that are operated by eligible independent ntractors pursuant to htel

management agreements Both the subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to treat the subsidiary as TRS

corporation of which TRS directly or indiretly owns more than 35% of the voting power or value of the

stock will automatically be treated as TRS Overall no more than 25% of the value of aREITs assets may
consist of stock or securities of one or more .TRSs In addition the TRS rules limit the deductibility of interest

paid or accrued by TRS to its parent REIT to assure that the TRS is subject to an appropriate level of

corporate taxation The rules also impose 100% excise tax on certain transactions between TRS and its

parent REIT that are not conducted on an arms-length basis

Our TRSs are subject to federal foreign state and local income tax on their taxable income and their

after-tax net income is available for distribution to us but is not required to be distributed to us We believe

that the
aggregate

value of the stock and securities of our TRSs is and will continue to be less than 25% of

the value of our total assets including our TRS stock and securities Furthermore we will monitor the value

of our respective investments in our TRSs for the purpose of ensuring compliance with TRS ownership

limitations In addition we will scrutinize all of our transactions with our TRSs to ensure that they are entered

into on arms-length terms to avoid incurring the 100% excise tax described above There can be no assurance

however that we will be able to comply with the 25% limitation discussed above or to avoid application of

the 100% excise tax discussed above
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If our leases with our TRS lessees are not respected as true leases forfederal income tax purposes we

would fail to qualify as REIT

To qualify as REIT we will be required to satisfy two gross
income tests pursuant to which specified

percentages of oui
gross

income must be passive income such as rent For the rent paid pursuant to the hotel

leases with our TRS lessees which we anticipate will constitute substantially all of our gross income to

qualify for purposes of the
gross

income tests the leases must be respected as true leases for federal income

tax purposes
and must not be treated as service contracts joint ventures or sonie other type of arrangement

We have structured our leases and intend to strUcture any future leases so that the leases will be respected as

true leases for federal income tax purposes
but there can be no assurance that the IRS will agree with this

characterization If the leases were not respected as true leases for federal income tax puroses we would not

be able to satisfy either of the two gross
income tests applicable to REITs and likely would fail to qualify for

REIT status

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for soæie divideAds

The maximum tax rate applicable to incomU froth qualified dividends payable to U.S shareholders that

are individuals trusts and estates has been reduced by legislation to 15% currently through the end of 2012
Dividends payable by REITs however generally are not eligible for the reduced rates the more favorable

rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividendscould cause investors who are individuals trusts and

estates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non

REIT corporations that pay dividends which could adversely affect the value of the shares of REITs including

our common shares

If our hotel managers do not qualify as eligible independent contractors we would fail to qualify as

REIT

Rent paid by lessee that is related party tenant of ours will not be qualifying income for purposes

of the twO gross income tests applicable to REITs We lease substantially all of our hotels to our TRS Lessees

TRS Lessee will not be treated as related party tenant and will not treated as directly operating

lodging facility which is prohibited to the extent the TRS Lessee leases properties from us that are managed

by an eligible independent contractor

We believe that the rent paid by our TRS Lessee is qualifying income for purposes of the REIT àross

income tests and that our TRSs qualify to be treated as taxable REIT subsidiaries for federal income tax

purposes but there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge this treatment or that court would

not sustain such challenge If the IRS were successful in challenging this treatment it is possible that we

would fail to meet the asset tests applicable to REITs and substantially all of our income would fail to qualify

for the gross income tests If we failed to meet either the asset or gross income tests we woUld likely lose our

REIT qualification for federal income tax purposes unless certain relief provisions applied

If our hotel managers do not qualify as eligible independent contractors we would fail to qualify as

REIT Each of the hotel management companies that enters into managenient contract with our TRS Lessees

must qualify as an eligible independent contractor under the REIT rules in order for the rent paid to us by

our TRS Lessees to be qualifying income for ur REIT income test requirements Among other requirements

in order to qualify as an eligible independent contractor manager must not own more than 35% of our

outstanding shares by value and no person or group of persons can own more than 35% of our outstanding

shares and the ownership interests of the manager taking into account only owners of more than 5% of our

shares and with respect to ownership interests In such managers that are publicly traded only holders of more

than 5% of such ownership interests Complexownership attribution rules apply for purposes of these 35%

thresholds Although we intend to monitor ownership of our shares by our property managers and their owners

there can be no assurance that these ownership levels will not be exceeded
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Our ownership limitations may restrict or prevent you from engaging in certain transfers of ourcommon

shares

In order to satisfy the requirements for REllqualification no more than 50% in value of our outstanding

shares may be owned directly or indirectly by five or fewer individuals as defined in the Code to include

certain entities at any time during the last halQ of each taxable year beginning with our 2011 taxable year To

assist qs to satisfy the requirements fpr our REIT qualification our declaration of trust contains an ownership

limit on each class and series of our shares Under applicable constructive ownership rules any common

shares owned by certain affiliated owners generally will be added together for purposes of the common share

ownership limit and any shares of given class or series of preferred shares owned by certain affiliated

owners generally will be added tQgether for purposes of the ownership limit on such class or series

If anyone transfers shares in way that would vfSlate the ownership limit or prevent us from qualifying

as REIT under the federal ihcome tax laws those shares instead will be transferred to trust for the benefit

of charitable beneficiary and will be either redeemed by us or sold to person whose ownership of the

shares will not violate.the onership limit Jf this transfer to-a thist fails to prevent such vjolation or our

continued qualification as REIT then the initial intended transfer shall be null and void from the outset The

intended transfereeof those shares will be deemed never to have owned the shares Anyone who acquires

shares in violation of the ownership limit or the other restrictions on transfer in our declaration of trust bears

the risk pf suffering financial loss when the shares are redeemed or sold if the market price of our shares

falls between the date of purchase and the date of redemption or sale

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability tc hedge effeetively and may caàse to incur

tax liabilities

The REIT provisions of the Code substantially limit our ability to hedge our liabilities Any income from

hedging transaction sire enter into to manage risk of Interest rate changes with respect to borrowings made or

to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets does not constitute gross income for purposes of the -75% or

95%
gross

income tests applicable to REITs To the extent that we enter into other types of hedging

transactidns the income from those transactions is likely to be tieated as non-qualifying income for purpOses

of both of the
gross

incothe testl result of these rules we intend to limit our use of advantageous

hedgiiig techniques or implement thole hedges through TRS This could increase the cost of our hedging

aciivities because Our TRSs would be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks
associated with

changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear In addition losses in our TRSs will generally

not provide any tax benefit except for being carried forward against future taxable income in the TRSs

The ability of our board of trustees to revoke our REIT qualification without shareholder approval may

cause adverse consequences to ott shareholders

Our declaration of trust provides that our board of trustees may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT

election without the approval of our sharçholders if it determines that.it is no longer in our best interest to

continue to qualify as REIT If we cease to qualify as REIT we would become subject to federal income

tax on our taxable income and would no longer be required to distribute most of our taxable income to our

shareholders which may have adverse consequences on our total return to our shareholders

The ability of our board of trustees to change our major policies may not be in your interest

Our board of trustees determines our major policies including policies and guidelines relating to our

acquisitions leverage financing growth operations and distributions ta shareholders and our continued

qualification as aREIT Our board may amend or revise these and other policins and guidelines from time to

time without the vote or consent of our shareholders Accordingly our shareholders will have limited control

over changes in our policies and those changes could adversely affect our financial condition results of

operations the market price of our common shares and our ability to make distribtitions to our shareholders
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If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal controls we may not be able to

accurately determine our financial results or prevent fraud As result our investors could lose

confidence in our reported financial information which could harm Our business and the market value

of our common shares

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide religble fmancial reports and effectively prevent

fraud We my ifr the future discover areas of our internal controls that need improvement Section 404 of the

Sarbanes-OxiŁy Act of 2002 will require us to evaluate and report on oær internal controls over financial

reporting and have our independent auditors annually issue their opinion on our internal control over financial

reporting While we intend to undertake substantial work to prepare for compliance with Section 404 we

cannot be certain that we will be successful in implementing or maintaining adequate control over our

financial reporting and financial processes Furthermore as we rapidly grow our businesi and acquire flew

hotel properties with existing internal controls that may not be consistent with our own our internal controls

will become more complex and we will require significantly more resources to ensure our internal controls

remain effective If we or our independent auditors discovef material weakness the disckisute of that fact

even if quickly remedied could reduce the market value of our common shares In particular we will need to

establish or cause our third party hotel managers to establish controls and procedures to ensure that hotel

revenues and expenses are proprly reOorded at our hotels The existence of any
material weakness or

significant deficiency would require management to çlevotç significant time and incur significant expense to

remediate any such matenal weaknesses or sigmficant deficiencies and management may not be able to

remediate any such material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in timely manner Any such failure could

cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and adversely affect the marke value

of our common shares or limit our access to the capital markets and other sources of liquidity

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities or liquidate

otherwise attractive investments

To qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes we must continually satisfy tests concerning

among other things the sources of our income the nature and diversification of our assets the amounts we

distribute to our shareholders and the ownership of our shares of beneficial interest In order to meet these

tests we mÆ1be required to forego investments we might otherwise niake Thus compliance with the REIT

requirements may hinder our performance

Iti particular we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter at least 75% of the value of our

assets consists of cash cash items government securities and qualified real estate assets The remainder of our

investment in securities other than government securities securities that constitute qualified real estate assets

and securities of our TRSs generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of

any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding secunties of any one issuer In addition

in general no more than 5% of the value of our assets other than government securities securities that

constitute qualified real estate assets and securities of our TRSs can consist of the securities of any one issuer

and no more than 25% of the value of our total assets can be represented by the secunties of one or more

TRSs If we fair to comply with these requirements at t1 end of any calendar qUarter we mUst correct tile

failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to

avoidlosing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences As result we may be reqiifred

to liquidate otherwise attractive investmenth These actions could have the effect of reducing our income and

amounts available for disthbution to our shareholders

We have not established minimum distribution payment level and we may be unable to generate

sufficient cash flows from our operations to make distributions to our shdrØholders at any time iii the

future

We are generally required to distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our taxable income each year

for us to qualify as REIT under the Code which requirement we currently intend to satisfy To the extent we

satisfy the 90% distribution requirement but distribute less than 1006 of our taxable income we will be

subject to federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income We have not established
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minimum distribution payment level and our ability to mak distributions to our shareholders may be

adversely affected by the risk factors described in this prospectus We currently do not expect to use the

proceeds from this offering to make distributions to our shareholdersl Subject to satisfying the requirements

for REIT qualification we intend over time to make regular quarterly distributions to our shareholders Our

board of trustees has the sole discretion to determine the timing form and amount of any disthbutions to our

shareholders Our board of trustees makes detenmnations regarding distributions based upon among other

factors our historical and projected results of operations financial condition cash flows and liquidity

satisfaction of the requirements for REIT qualification and other tax considerations capital expenditure and

other expense obligations debt covenants contractual prohibitions or other linutations and applicable law and

such other matters as our board of trustees may deem relevant from time to time Among the factors that

could impmr our ability to make distributions to our shareholders are

our inability to invest the proceeds of the offering

our inability to realize attractive returns on our investments

unanticipated expenses that reduce our cash flow or non-cash earnings

defaults in our investment portfolio or decreases in the value of the underlying assets and

the fact that anticipated operating expense levels may not prove accurate as actual results may vari

from estimates

As result no assurance can be given that we will be able to continue to make distributions to our

shareholders or that the level of any disthbutions we do make to our shareholders will achieve market yield

or increase or even be maintained over time any of which could materially and adversely affect the market

price of our common shares In addition prior to the time we have fully invested the net proceeds of this

offering we may fund our quarterly distributions out of such net proceeds The use of our net proceeds for

distributions could be dilutive to our financial results and may constitute return of capital to our investors

which would .have the effect of reducing each shareholders basis in its common shares We also could use

borrowed funds or proceeds from the sale of aniets to fund distributions

In addition distributions that we make to our shareholders are generally taxable to our shareholders as

ordinary income However portion of our distributions may be designated by us as long-term capital gains

to the extent that they are attributable to capital gain income recognized by us or may constitute return of

capital to the extent that they exceed our earnings and profits as determined for tax purposes return of

capital is not taxable but has the effect of reducing the basis of shareholders investment in Our common

shares.

The market price of our equity securities may vary substantially which may limit your ability to liquidate

your investment

The trading pnces of equity securities issued by REITs have historically been affected by changes in

market interest rates One of the factors that may influence the price of our shares in public trading markets is

the annual yield from distributions on our common or preferred shares as compared to yields on other financial

instruments An increase in market interest rates or decrease in our distributions to shareholders may lead

prospective purchasers of our shares to demand higher annual yield which could reduce the market price of

our equity securities

--

Other factors that could affect the market price of our equity securities include the following

actual or anticipated vanations in our quarterly results of operations

changes in market valuations of companies in the hotel or real estate industries

changes in expectations of future financial performance or changes in estimates of securities analysts

fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes

issuances of common shares or -other securities in the future
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the addition or departure of key personnel

announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions investments or strategic alliances and

unforeseen events beyond our control such as terrorist attacks travel related health concerns including

pandemics and epidemics such as H1N1 influenza avian bird flu and SARS political instability

regional hostilities increases in fuel prices imposition of taxes or surcharges by regulatory authorities

travel related accidents and unusual weather patterns including natural disasters such as hurricanes

tsunamis or earthquakes

Because we have limited equity market capitalization and our common shares are traded in low

volumes the stock market pnce of our common shares is susceptible to fluctuation to greater extent than

companies with larger inarket capitalization As result your ability to liquidate your investment may be

limited and the sale of common shares in this offering could cause the stock market price of our common

shares to decline

The number of shares available forfuture sale could adversely affect the market price of our common

shares

We cannot predict the effect if any of future sales of common shares or the availability of common

shares for future sale on the market price of our common shares Sales of substantial amounts of common

shares including shares issued to our trustees and officers or the perception that these sales could occur may

adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common shares

We also may issue from time to time additional common shares or limited partnership interests in our

operating partnership in connection with the acquisition of properties and we may grant demand or piggyback

registration rights in connection with these issuances Sales of substantial amounts of our common shares or

the perception that these sales could occur may adversely affect the prevailing market price for our common

shares or may impair our ability to raise capital through sale of additional equity securities Our Equity

Incentive Plan provides for grants of equity based awards up to an aggregate of 565359 common shares

Future offerings of debt or equity securities ranking senior to our common shares or incurrence of debt

including under our credit facility may adversely affect the market price of our common shares

If we decide to issue debt or equity securities in the future ranking senior to our common shares or

otherwise incur indebtedness including under our credit facility it is possible that these securities or

indebtedness will be governed by an indenture or other instrument containing covenants restricting our

operating flexibility and limiting our ability to make distributions to our shareholders Additionally any

convertible or exchangeable securities that we issu in the future may have rights preferences and privileges

including with respect to distributions more favorable than those of our common shares and may result in

dilution to owners of our common shares Because our decision to issue debt or equity securities in any future

offering or otherwise incur indebtedness will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our

control we cannot predict or estimate the amount timing or nature of our future offenngs or financmgs any

of which could reduce the market price of our common shares and dilute the value of our common shares

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Property
_______

Homewood Suites by Hiltos Boston

BillericalBedfordlBurlington

Homewood Suites by Hilton Minnespolis

Mall of Americs

Homewood Suites by Hilton Nashville

Brentwood Tennessee

Homewood Suites by Hilton Dsllas-Msrket

Center DalIss Texss

Homewood Suites by Hilton Hsrtford- Farmington

Farsnington Connecticut

Homewood Suites by Hilton Orlando- Maitland

Msitland Florida

Homewood Suites by Hilton Carlsbad Carlsbad

North San Diego County Californis

Hsmpton Inn Suites Houston-Medical Houstont

Center Texas

Altoona

Pennsylvania

Washington

Pennsylvania

Holtsyille

Residence Inn Long Island Holtsville .. New York

White Plains

Residence Inn White Plains New York

New Rochelle

Residence Inn New Rochclle New York

Total/Weighted Average

Item Removed and Reserved

Island

Hospitality

Ialan

Hospitality 2-Jul-10 1997

Concord 24-Aug-10 2001

Concord

Island

Hospitality

Island

Hospitality

Island

Hospitality

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common shares began trading on the New York Stock Exchange the NYSE on April 16 2010

under the symbol CLDT The closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on December 31 2010 Was

Item Properties

The following table Sets forth certain operating information for our hotels as of December 31 2010

Purchase

Management Date of Year Number of Purchase Price per Assumed
Location Company Acquisition Opened R6oms Price Room Debt

.Unaurnted

Billerica

Massachusetts Hilton 23-Apr-10 1999

Bloomington

Minnesota Hiltun 23-Apr-10. .1998

Brentwood

Hilton 21-Apr-10 1998

Hilton 23-Apr-10 1998

Hilton 23-Apr-10 1999

Hilton 23-Apr-10 2000

3-Nov-10 2008 145

Courtyard Altoona

Sprinthill Suites Washingtoq

147 $12.5 million $85714

144 $18.9 million $125000

121
$11.3.millipn

$93388

137 $10.7 million $781O

121 $11.5 million $95041

143 $9.5 million $66433

$32.0 million $220690

120 $16.5 million $137

105 $11.3 million $107619 $7.0 million

86 $12.0 million $139535 $5.4 million

124 $21.3 million $171774

133 $21.2 million $154398

124 $21.0 million $169355

24-Aug-10 2000

3-Aug-10 2004

23-Sep-10 1982

5-Oct-10 2000

1650 $208.8 million $126606 $12.4 million

On January 31 2011 we entered into contract to purchase hotel located in the greater Pittsburgh

Pennsylvania area for total purchase price of appioximately $24.9 million

We lease our headquarters located at 50 CocQanut Row Suite 216 Palm Beach FL 33480 The Altoona

hotel is subject to ground lease with an expiration of April 30 2029 with an option of up to 12 additional

terms of five years each In connection with the New Rochelle hotel there is an air rights lease and garage

lease that expire on December 2104

Item Legal Proceedings

We are not currently involved in any material litigation nor to our knowledge is any material litigation

pending or threatened against us
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$17.25 per share The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices per

share and the cash dividends declared per share

2010

High Low DMdends

First quarter

Second quarter FromApril 16 2010 2070 17.45

Third quarter 18.92 14.25 0.175

Fourth quarter 19.46 16.11 0.175

Shareholder Information

On March 2011 there were 15 registered holders of record of our common shares This figure does not

include beneficial owners who hold Shares in nominee name However because many of our common shares

are held by brokers and other institutions we believe that there are more beneficial holders of our common

shares than record holders In order to comply with certain requirements related to our qualification as REIT

our charter subject to certain exceptions limits the number of common shares that may be owned by any

single person or affiliated group to 9.8% of the outstanding common shares

Initial Value of Initial

Investment at Investment at

April 21 2010 December 31 2010

Chatham Lodging Trust $100.00 87.13

Russell 2000 Index $100.00 $109.57

FTSE NAREIT All Equity REIT Index $100.00 $110.50

FTSE NAREIT Lodging/Resorts Index $100.00 $106.10

II
The above graph provides comparison of the cumulative total return on our common shares from

April 21 2010 the date on which our shares began trading to the NYSE closing price per share on

December 31 2010 with the cumulative total return on the Russell 2000 Index the Russell 2000 the FTSE

NAREIT All Equity REIT Index the NAREIT All Equity and the NAREIT Lodging/Resorts Index the

NAREIT Lodging The total return values were calculated assuming $100 investment on April 21 2010

with reinvestment of all dividends in our common shares ii the Russell 2000 iii the NAREIT All Equity

and iv the NAREIT Lodging The total return values do include any dividends paid during the period

$115.00

$110.00

$105.00

$100.00

$95.00

$90.00

$85.00

April 21 2010

-4 Chatham Russell 2000 NAREIT All Equity

December 31 2010

4-NAREIT Lodging
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Distribution information

In order to qualify and maintain our qualification as REIT we must make distributions to our

stockholders each year in an amount equal to at least

90% of our REIT taxable income determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and

excluding net capital gains plus

90% of the excess of our net income from foreclosure property over the tax imposed on such income

by the Codertiinus

My excess non-cash income as defined in the Code

The following table sets forth information regarding the declaration payment and income tax character

ization of our distributions by the Company on our common shares for the year ended December 31 2010

Common
Share

Quarter to Which Record Payment Distribution Ordinary
Distribution Relates Date Date Amount Income

Second quarter From April 16 2010

Third quarter 10/15/2010 10/29/2010 0.175 0.175

Fourth quarter 12/31/2010 1/14/2011 0.175 0.175

$0.350 $0.350

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31 2010 relating to our Equity Incentive Plan

pursuant to which grants of common share options share awards share appreciation rights performance units

and other equity-based awards options may be granted from time to time

Number of Securities

Number of Securities to be Weighted-Average Remaining Available

Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of for Future Issuance under

of Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Equity Compensation
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Plans

Equity compensation plans

approved by security

holders1 223834

Equity compensation plans

not approved by security

holders

Total 223834

Our Equity Incentive Plan was approved by our companys sole trustee and our companys sole share

holder prior to completion of our IPO

Securities Sold

Concurrent with the closing of our IPO on April 21 2010 we issued and sold an aggregate of 500000

common shares to Jeffrey Fisher our Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer iti private

placement exempt- from registration pursuant to Regulation under the Securities Act The aggregate price for

these shares was $10000000 and there were no underwriting discounts or conmiissions Mr Fisher

represented to us that he is an accredited investor as that term is defined in Rule 501a of Regulation

under the Securities Act
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Use of Proceeds

Our registration statement on Form S-il as amended Registration No 333-162889 the Registration

Statement with respect to the IPO registered up to $172.5 million of our common shares par value $0.01

per share and was declared effective on April 15 2010 We sold total of 8625000 common shares in the

IPO including 1125000 common shares issued and sold pursuant to the underwriters exercise of the

overallotment option for gross proceeds of $172.5 mil1ion The IPO was completed on April 21 2010 As of

the date of filing this report the IPO has terminated and all of the securities registered pursuant to the

Registration Statement have been sold The joint book-running managers of the IPO wereBarclays Capital

Inc and FBR Capital Markets Co Co-managers of the IPO were Morgan Keegan Company Inc Stifel

Nicolaus Company Incorporated Credit Agricole Securities USA Inc and JMP Securities LLC The

expenses of the IPO were as follows in millions

Underwriting discounts and commissions $12.1

Expenses paid to or for our underwriters 0.0

Other expenses 1.7

Total underwriting discounts and expenses $13.8

All of the foregoing underwriting discounts and expenses were direct or indirect payments to persons

other than our trustees officers or any of their associates ii persons owning ten percent 10% or more

of our commOn shares or iii our affiliates The net proceeds to us of the IPO were approximately

$158.7 million after payment in full of fees to the underwriters and offering expenses In accordance with the

underwriting agreement $5.1 million of the underwriting discount and commissions were accrued and

scheduled to be paid when we had purchased hotel properties in accordance with our investment strategy in an

amount equal to at least 85% of the amount of the net proceeds of the IPO Payment was made on October 21

2010 Until that time the net proceeds including the unpaid underwriting discount and commissions were

invested in short-term interest-bearing investment-grade securities and money market accounts that are

consistent with our intention to qualify as REIT

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We do not currently have repurchase plan or program in place However we do provide employees

who have been issued restricted common shares the option of selling shares to us to satisfy the minimum

statutory tax withholding requirements on the date their shares vest There were no common shares purchased

in the year ended December 31 2010 related to such repurchases
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following table presents selected historical financial information as of and for the year ended

December 31 2010 The selected historical financial information as of and for the year ended December 31

2010 has been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements These results reflect our operations

from April 21 2010 the date of completion of our IPO and therefore are not necessarily indicative of the

results we expect when our investment strategy has been fully implemented The selected historical financial

data should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations and the financial statements and notes thereto both included herein this Annual Report

on Form 1OLK

Year Ended
December 31

2010

Statement of Operations Data

Total revenue

Hotel operating expenses

General and administrative

Hotel property acquisition posts

Property taxes and insurance

Depreciation and amortization
_________

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Interest expense including amortization of deferred financing fees

Interest and other income
__________

Loss before income tax expense

Income tax expense

Net loss atthbutable to common shareholders
_________

Loss
per conmon share basic and diluted

Weighted average number of common shares basic and diluted

Other Data
Cash provided by operating activities 5274

Cash used in investing activities

Cash provided by financing activities

Cash dividends declared per common share

25470

15025

3547

3189

1606

2564

25931

461
932

193

1200

17

1217

0.20

6377333

201511

200981

0.35
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Investment in hotel properties net

Cash and cqsh equivalents

Restricted cash

ITotel receivables net of allowance for doubtful

accounts

Deferred costs net 4710

Prepaid expenses and othei assets
_________

Total assets
_______

Debt

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Distributions payable _______

Total liabilities

________

Total shareholders equity _______

Noncontrolling interest in operating partnership ________

Total liabilities and equity
________

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Colidition and Resulti of Operations

Overview

Chatham Lodging Trust was formed as Maryland real estate investment trust on October .6 2009 and

intends to elect to qualify as real estate investment trust REIT for U.S federal income tax purposes

beginning with its short taxable year ended December 31 2010 We are internally-managed and were

organized to invest primarily in premium-branded upscale extended-stay and select-service hotels

We completed our initial public offering the IPO on April 121 20.10 The IPO resulted in the sale of

8625000 common shares at $20.00 price per share generating $172.5 million in
gross proceeds Net

proceeds after underwriters dicbunts and commissions and other offering costs were approximately

$158.7 million Condurrently with the closing of the IPO in separate private placement pæruÆtit to

Regulation under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the SeŁurities Act we sold 500000 of our

common shares to Jeffrey Fisher our Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer at the public

offenng pnce of $20 00 per share for proceeds of $10 imlhon

We had no operations prior to the consummation of the IPO Following the closing of the IPO we
conthbuted the net proceeds from the IPO and the concurrent private placement togetherwith the proceeds of

our February 2011 offering to Chatham Lodging L.P the Operating Partnership in exchange for

partnership interests in the Operating Partnership Substantially all of our assets are held by and all of our

operations are conducted through the Operating Partnership Chatham Lodging Trust is the sole-gqneral partner

of the Operating Partnership and owns 100% of the common units of the limited partnership interest in the

Operating Partnership Certain of our executive officers hold unvested long-term incentive plan units in the

Operating Partnership which are presented as noncontrolling interests on the accompanying consolidated

balance sheet

On February 2011 we completed public offering that resulted in the sale of 4600000 conirnon

shares at $16.00 per share generating $73.6 million in gross proceeds Net proceeds after underwriters

discounts and commissions and other offering costs were approximately $69.0 million

Ealance Sheet Data

As of December 31
2010

Audited

In thousands

As ofiDØceniber 31
2009

Audited
In thousands

$2O808a $c
4768 24

3018

891

.735

$222262

50133

5248

1651

57038

$24

14

14

10

$24

164739

425

$222202
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As of December 31 2010 we owncd 13 hotels with an aggregate of 1650 rooms located in states To

qualify as REIT we cannot operate the hotels Therefore the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries lease

the hotels to wholly owned lessee subsidiaries of our taxable REIT subsidiaries TRS Lessees Each hotel is

leased to TRS under percentage lease that provides for rental payments equal to the greater of fixed

base rent amount or ii percentage rent based on hotel room revenue The initial term of eabhof the TRS

leases is years Lease revenue from each TRS Lessee is eliminated in consolidation Our TRS Lessees have

entered into management agreements with third party management companies that provide day-to-day

management for our hotels Island Hospitality Management Inc IFIM which is 90% owned by Mr Fisher

manages hotels Homewood Suites Management LLC JAR Manager subsidiary of Hilton Worldwide

Inc Hilton manages hotels and Concord Hospitality Enterprises Company Concord manages

hotels

Our portfolio includes upscale extended-stay hotels that operate under the HomewOod Suites by Hilton

brand seven hotels and Residence Inn by Marriott brand three hotels as well as premiumbranded select-

service hotels that operate under the Courtyard by Marriott brand one hotel the Hampton Inn and Suites by

Hilton brand one hotel and the SpringHill Suites by Marriott brand one hotel

Upscale extended-stay hotels typically have the following characteristics

principal customer base includes business travelers who are on extended assignments and corporate

relocations

services and amenities include complimentary breakfast and evemng hospitality hour high speed

intemet access in-room movie channels limited meeting space daily linen and room cleaning service

24-hour front desk guest grocery services and an on-site maintenance staff and

physical facilities include large suites quality construction full separate kitchens in each guest suite

quality room furnishings pool and exercise facilities

We also invest in premium-branded select-service hotels such as Courtyard by Marriott Hampton Inn

and Suites and SpringHill Suites by Marriott The service and amenity offerings of these hotels typically

include complimentary breakfast high-speed intemet access local calls in-roOm movie channels and daily

linen and room cleaning service

We focus primarily on hotels in the 25 largest metropolitan markets in tha United States We believe that

current market conditions create attractive opportunities to acquire high quality hotels at cyclically low prices

that will benefit from an improving econoitiy and our aggressive asset management

We intend tp elect and qualify to be treated as REIT for federal income tax purposes For us to qualify

as REIT under the Code we cannot operate the hotels that we acquire Therefore our operating partnership

and its subsidiaries lease our hotel properties to ur TRS Lessees who in turn have engaged eligible

independent contractors to manage our hotels Each of these lessees is owned by TRS for federal income tax

purposes and is consolidated into our financial statements for accounting purposes However since both our

operating partnership and our TRS Lessees are controlled by us our principal source of funds on

consolidated basis is from the operations of our hotels The earnings of our TRS Lessees are subject to

taxation as- regular corporations reducing such lessees ability to pay dividends our funds from operations

and the cash available for distribution to our shareholders

Financial Condition and Operating Performance Metrics

-- We measure financjal condition and hotel operating performance by evaluating financial and operating

metricssuchas

Revenue
per

Available Room RevPAR

Average Daily Rate ADR
Occupancy percentage
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Funds From Operations FF0
Adjusted FF0

Earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amOrtization EBITDA and

Adjusted EBITDA

We evaluate the hotels in our portfolio and potential acquisitions using these metrics to determine each

hotel contribution towards providing income to our shareholders through increases in distributable cash flow

and increasing long term total returns through appreciation uf the value of our common shares RevPAR ADR
and Occupancy are hotel industry measures commonly used to evaluate operating performance RevPAR
which is calculated as total room revenue divided by total number of available rooms is an important metric

for monitoring hotel operating performance

Please refer to Non-GAAP Financial Meaiures for detailed discussion of our use of FF0 Adjusted

FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA and reconciliation of FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted

EBITDA to net income or loss measurements recognized by generally accepted accounting principles in the

United States GAAP

Results of Operations

Industry outlook

Operating performance for the lodging industry dechned 16 7% in 2009 as reported by Smith Travel

Research due to the challenging economic conditions created by declining GDP high levels of unenployment

low consumer confidence the significant decline in home prices and reduction in available credit We
believe that the hotel industrys performance is correlated to the performance of the economy overall and with

key economic indicators such as GDP growth employment trends corporate profits and consumer confidence

improving we expect rebound in the performance of the hotel industry As reported by Smith Travel

Research after 19 consecutive months of declining year over year RevPAR monthly RevPAR has been higher

year over year since March 2010 As reported by Smith Travel Research RevPar in 2010 was up 5.5%

While the U.S hotel industry has shown improvement since the time of our IPO and we are encouraged

by these improvements industry operating performance remains significantly below pre-2008 levels In

addition to facing weakened operating performance hotel owners have been adversely impacted by

significant decline in the availability of debt financing We believe that the combination of decline in

operating performance and reduction in the availability of debt financing has caused hotel values to decline in

recent years and will continue to lead to increased hotel loan foreclosures and distressed hotel property sales

In addition we believe that the supply of new hotels is likely to remain low for the next several years due to

limited availability of debt fmancrng Hotel industry operating performance historically has correlated with

U.S GDP growth and number of economists and government agencies currently predict that the U.S econ

omy will grow over the next several years We believe that U.S GDP growth coupled with limited supply of

new hotels will lead to increases in lodging industry RevPAR and hotel operating profits

Year ended December 31 2010

Prior to April 21 2010 operations had not commenced because we were in our developmental stage

Results of operations for the year ended December 31 2010 include the operating activities of the 13 hotels

owned at December 31 2010 since their respective dates of acquisition

For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company had net loss of $1.2 million or loss of $0.20

per
diluted share Year ended December 31 2010 FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA were

$1.3 million $4.9 million $2.3 million and $6.9 million respectively as calculated below
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Revenue

Total revenue was $25.4 million and since all of our hotels are select service or limited service hotels

room revenue is the primary revenue source as these hotels do not have meaningful food and beverage

source or large group conference facilities Room revenue was $24 .71lion or 97% of total revenue for year

ended December 31 2010 Other operating revenue comprised of meeting room gift shop in-room movie

and other ancillary amenities revenue was $0.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010

As room revenue is the primary component -of.total revenue the Companys revenue is..dependent on

occupancy and .ADR at our hotels Occupancy ADR and RevPAR results are presented in the following table

.Y based on the.period since our acquisition of the hotels

Year Ended
December 31 2010

Portfolio

ADR ... $109.15

Occupancy 74 5%

RevPar 81.35

Hotel Operating Expenses

Hotel operating expenses were $15.0 million for the year ended December 31 2010 As percentage 9f

total revenue hotel operating expenses were 59% for the year ended December 31 2010 Rooms expenses

which are the most significant component of hotel operating expense were $6.0 million for the year ended

December 31 2010 Other direct expenses which include management and franchise fees insurance utilities

repairs and maintenance advertising and sales and geneEal and administrative expenses Were $9.0 million for

theyeareædŁdDecember3120l0

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense was $2.6 million for-the year ended December 31 2010..-

Depreciation is recorded on our hotel buildings over 40 years from the date of acquisition Depreciable lives

of hotel furniture fixtures and equipment are generally three to ten years between the date of acquisition and

the date that the furniture fixtures and equipment will be replaced Amortization of franchise fees is recorded

over the terfn- of the respective franchise agreement

Property Taxes and Insurance

Total property tax and insurance expenses were $1.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010.

General and Administrative

General and adrmnistrative expenses pnncipally consist of employee related costs including base payroll

and amortization of restricted stock and awards of long-tenn incentive plan LTIP units These expenses

also include corporate operating costs professional fees and trustees fees Total corporate general and

administrative
expenses were $3.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 Payroll related costs were

$1 million and share based compensation was $1.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010 During the

year payroll costs included
.expenses

of $0.2 million and share-based compensation included an expense of

$0.1 million related to the departure of the former chief financial officer

Hotel Property Acquisition Costs

We incurred hotel property acquisition costs of $3.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 These

expenses represent costs associated with.the purchase of-the thirteen hotels owned -at December 31 2010.-

These acquisitiOn-related costs are expensed when incurred-in accordance with GAAR For the year acquisition

costs were approximately 1.4% of total assets at December 31 2010
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Interest and Other Income

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents was $0 million for the year ended December 31 2010

Interest Expense ..

Interest expnse was $0.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 In connection with the

acquisition of two hotels during the year we assumed two loans with principal balances aggrçgating

approximately $12.4 million The weighted average
interest rate of the two fixed rate loans is 5.9% annually

Interest bxpense includes amortization of deferred financing fees of $0.3 million

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense was $17 thousand for the year ended December 31 2010 Our TRS are subject to

income taxes and this expense is based on the taxable income of one of our two TRS holding companies at

tax rate of approximately 40% Our other TRS holding company had net loss for the year and income tax

expense was zero since we established valuation allowance for.the deferred tax asset associated with the net

loss

Material Trends or Uncertainties

We are not aware of any material trends or uncertainties favorable or unfavorable that may be ieasonably

anticipatd to have material impact on eithç the capital resources or the rçvenues or inegme to be derived

from the acquisition and operation of properties loans and other permitted investments other than those

referred to in the nsk factors identified in the Risk Factors section of this annual report on Form 10

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We consider the following nOn-GAAP financial measures useful to investors as key supplenmnntal

measures of our operating performance FF0 Adjusted FFQ EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

These non-GAAP financigl ineasures could be considered along with but not altematives to net income or

loss as measure of our operatipg performance prescribed by GAAIR

FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not represent cash generated from operating

activities as determihed by GAAP and should not be consideied as altematives to net income or loss cash
flows from operations or any other operating performance measure prescribed by GAAP FF0 Adjusted FF0

EBITDA and Adjusted EBIT.A are not rneasurs of our liqpidity nor are FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and

Adjusted EBITDA indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs including our ability to make .cash

distributions These measurements do not reflect cash expenditures for long-term assets and other items that

have been and will be incurred FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may include funds that

may not be available for managements discretionary use due to functional requirements to conserve funds for

capital expenditures property acquisitions and other commitments and unŁertainties

We calculate FF0 in accordance with standards established by the.National Association of RealEstate

Investment Trusts NAREIT which defines FF0 as net income or loss calculated in accordance with GAAP
excluding gains or losses from sales of real estate items classified by GAAP as extraordinary the cumulative

effect of changes in accounting principles plus depreciation and amortization excluding amortization-of

deferred financing costs and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures We believe

that the presentation of FF0 provides useful information to investors regarding .oqr operating performance

because it measures our performance without regard to specified non-cash items such as real estate

depreciation and amortization gain or loss on sale of real estate assets and certiin other items that we believe

are not indicative of the performance of our underlying hotel properties We believe that these
items are more

representative-of our asset base and our acquisition and disposition activitias than Our ongoing operations and

that by excluding the effects of the items FF0 is useful to investors in comparing our operating performance

between periods and between REITs
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We further adjust FF0 for certain additional items that are not in NAREITs definition of FF0 including

hotel property acquisition costs and costs associated with the departure of our former chief financial officer

which are referred to as Other charges included in
general and adninistrative expenses below We believe

that Adjusted FF0 provides investors with another financial measure that may facilitate comparisons of

operating performance between periods and between REITs

The following is reconciliation between net loss to FF0 and Adjusted FF0 for the year ended

December 31 2010 in thousands except share data

For the Year Ended

December 31 2010

Funds From Operations FF0
Net loss attributable to common shareholders 1217
Depreciation 2537

FF0 1320
Hotel property acquisition costs 3189
Other charges included in general and administrative

expenses 345

Adjusted FF0 4854

Weighted average number of common shares

Basic 6377333
Diluted 6377333

We calculate EBITDA as net income or loss excluding interest expense provision for incohie

taxes including incOme taxes applicable to sale of asts and depreciation and amortization We believe

EBITDA is useful to investors in evaluating Our operating performance bbcaCse it helps investofs compare our

operating performance between periods and between REITs by removing the impact of our capital structure

primarily expense and asset base primarily depreciation and amortization from our operating results In

addition we use EBITDAas one measure in determithrg the value of hotel acquisitions and dispositions

We further adjust EBITDA for certain additional items including hotul property acquisition costs

amortization of non-cash share-based compensation and costs associated with the departure ofour former chief

financial officer which are referred to as Other charges included in general and administrative expenses

below and which we believe are not indicative of the performance of our underlying hotel properties We
believe that Adjusted EBITDA prQvides investors with another financial measure that may facilitate compar
isons of operating performance between periods and betweçn REITs

The following is reconciliation between net loss to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended

December31 2010 in thousands

For the Year EndS
December 31 2010

Earnings Before Interest Taxes

Depreciation and Amortization EBITDA
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $1 217
Interest expense 932

Income tax expense 17

Depreciation and amortization 2564

EBITDA. 2296
Hotel property acquisition hists 3189

Share baled compeCsàtion 1070

Other charges included in general and administrative expenses1 345

Adjusted EBITDA. .. 6900

Includes $87 of share based compensation related to the departure of the former chief financial officer
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Although we present FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA because we believe they are useful to

investors in comparing our operating performance between periods and between -RUTs these measures have

limitations as analytical tools Some of these limitations are

FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect our cash expenditures or future

requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments

FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect changes in or cash requirements

for our working capital needs

FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBJTDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect funds available to make cash

distributions

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect the significant interest expense or the cash requirements

necessary to service interest or pnncipal payments on our debts

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges the assets being depreciated and

amortized may need to be replaced in the future and FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted

EBITDA do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements

non-cash compensation is and will remain a- key element of our overall long-term incentive comp6nsa-

tion package although we exclude it as an expense when evaluating our ongoing Operating performance

for particular period- using Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted FF0 and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect the impact of certain cash charges including

acquisition transaction costs that result from matters we consider not to be indicative of the underlying

performance of our hotel properties and

other companies in our industry may calculate FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA-

differently than we do limiting their usefulness as comparative measure

In addition FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not represent cash generated from

operating activities as determined by GAAP and should not be considered as altematives to net income or

loss cash flows from operations or any other operating performance measure prescribed by GAAP FF0
Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measures of our liquidity Because of these limitatiOns

FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as substitute

for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP We compensate for these limitations by

relying pnmanly on our GAAP results and using FF0 Adjusted FF0 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA only

supplementally Our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements included elsewhere in

this prospectus are prepared in accordance with GAAP

Sources and Uses of Cash

Our principal sources of cash include net cash from operations and proceeds from debt and equity

issuances Our principal uses of cash include acquisitions capital expenditures- operating ccists corporate

expenditures debt repayments and distributions to equity holders

For the year ended December 31 2010 net cash flows provided by operationi were $5.3 million as our

net loss of $1 million was due in significant part to non-cash expenses including $2.8 million of

--

-- depreciation and amortization and $1.2 million of share-based cOmpensation expense In addition changes -in

operating assets and liabilities due to the timing of cash receipts and payments from our hotels resulted in net

cash inflow of $2.5 million Net cash flows used in investing activities were $201.5 million which represents

the acquisition of the thirteen hotels net of cash acquired and debt assumed of $197.5 million as well as

additional improvements in those hotels of $3.6 million and $0.4 million of funds placed into escrows for

lender or manager required escrows Net cash flows provided by financing activities were $201.0 million

comprised primarily of proceeds generated from the ff0 and our concurrent private placement of common

shares to our Chief Executive Officer net of underwriting fees and offering costs paid or payable to third

41



parties of $168.7 million and borrowings on our secured credit facility of $37.8 millionoffset by costs paid to

issue debt of $3.8 million and distributions to shareho1dersof $1.7 million

As of December 31 2010 we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $4.8 million Subsequent

to December 31 2010 we paid $1.7 million in fourth quarter dividends on our common shares and

distributions on our LTIP units on January 14 2011

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We intend to limit the outstanding principal amount of our consolidated indebtedness net of cash to not

more than 35% of the investment in our hotel properties at cost defined as Our initial acquisition price plus

the gross amount of any subsequent capital investment and excluding any impairment charges measured at the

time we incur debt and subsequent decrease in hotel property values will not necessarily cause us tq repay

debt to comply with this limitation Our board of truirees may modify or eliminate this policy at any time

without the approval of our shareholders As of December 31 2010 we have fully invested in hotel properties

the net proceeds of our IPO and the concurrent private placement of common shares to our Chief Executive

Officer

We expect to meet our short-term liquidity reqUirements generally through net cash provided by operations

existing cash balances and if.necessaiy short-term borrowings under our credit facility We believe that our net

cash provided by operations will be adequate to fund operatmg requirements pay interest on any bonowmgs and

fund dividends in accordance with the requirements for qualification as REIT under the Code We expect to

meet our long-term liquidity requirements such as hotel property acquisitions and debt maturities or repayments

through additional long-term secured and unsecured borrowings and the issuance of additional equity or debt

securities

On October 12 2010 we entered into senior secured revolving credit facility to fund future acquisition

redevelopment and expansion activities At December .31 2010 we have $37.8 million of outstanding

borrowings under this credit facility

The following chart summarizes certain terms of ourcredit facility

Lenders Facility Amount Interest Rate Term Security

Barclays Capital $850000001 Our choice of
years All borrowing base

Regions Capital LIBOR2 floor of October propertiess including

Markets Credit 1.25% margin 12 2013 any related personal

Agricole CorpOmte and between 3.25% and propety and the

Investment Bank UBS 4.25% depending on equity interests of
Securities and US our leverage ratio3 certain of our
Bank National or ii base rate4 subsidiaries

Association 2.25% to 3.25%

depending on our

leverage ratio3

Subject to the consent ofsthe lenders we may increase the facility amount by an additional $25 million

for an aggregate principal amount of $110 million

LIBOR means London Interbank Offered Rate

Leverage ratio is the ratio of our consolidated totaj debt to the total value of our assets for the four fiscal

quarters most recently ended at the time of calculation

Base rate means for any day fluctuating annual rate equal tO the highest of the federal funds rate plus

0.50% the administrative agent banks then-current prime rate and one-month LIBOR subject to

1.25% floor plus 1.00%

Borrowing base properties are subject to lender approval as set forth in the credit facility agreements

Subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the credit agreement the operating partnership may
increase the original principal amount of the credit agreement by an additional $25.0 million The credit
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agreement also permits the issuance of letters of credit and provides for swing line loans Pnrsuant to the

credit agreement we and certain of our indirect subsidiaries guaranteed to the lenders all of the obligations of

the operating partnership under the credit agreement any notes and the other loan documents including any

obligations under hedging arrangements From time to time the operating partnership may be required to

cause additional subsidiaries to become guarantors under the credit agreement

Availability under the credit agreement is based on the least of the following the aggregate

conmiitments of all lenders ii percentage of the as-is appraised value of qualifying borrowing base

properties subject to certain concentration limitations and other deductions and iii percentage of net

--
--

operating income from qualifying borrowing base properties subject to certain limitations and other

deductions We incur 0.50% fee for amounts unused on the credit facility calculated by subtracting amounts

borrowed from the total facility amount The credit agreement is secured by each borrowing base property

including all personal property assets related thereto and the equity interests of borrowing base entities and

certain other of our subsidiaries At December 31 2010 there were eleven properties in the borrowing base

under the credit agreement and the maximum borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility was

$68.7 million

The credit agreement contains representations warranties covenants terms and conditions customary for

transactions of this type including maximum leverage ratio minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and

minimum net worth financial covenants limitations on liens ii incurrence of debt iii investments

iv distributions and
mergers

and asset dispositions covenants to preserve corporate existence and comply

with laws covenants on the use of proceeds of the credit facility and default provisions including defaults for

non-payment breach of representations and warranties insolvency non-performance of covenants cross-

defaults and guarantor defaults The occurrence of an event of default under the credit agreement could result

in all loans and other obligations becoming immediately due and payable and the credit facility being

terminated and allow the lenders to exercise all rights and remedies available to them with respect to the

collateral

The two mortgage loans we assumed contain financial covenants concerning the maintenance of

minimum debt service
coverage

ratio The loan encumbering the Altoona Courtyard hotel requires minimum
ratio of .5x and our ratio is .9x The loan encumbering the Washington SpringHill Suites hotel requires

minimum ratio of .65x and our ratio is 2.5x We were in compliance with these covenants at December 31
2010

On February 2011 we completed public offering of 4.6 million common shares raising net proceeds

of $69.0 million We used $42.8 million to pay down debt outstanding on the revolving credit facility

We currently have hotel in Pittsburgh PA under contract for purchase price of $24.9 million plus

customary pro-rated amountsand closing costs We expect to fund the purchase price by assuming $7.3 million

of existing mortgage debt and to fund the balance out of available cash from the offering closed on February

2011

We intend to continue to invest in hotel properties only as suitable opportunities arise In the near-term

we intend to fund future investments in properties with the net proceeds of offerings of our securities including

the February 2011 offering Longer term we intend to finance our investments with the net proceeds from

additional issuances of common and preferred shares issuances of units of limited partnership interest in our

operating partnership or other securities or borrowings The success of our acquisition strategy may depend in

part on our ability to access additional capital through issuances of equity securities There can be no

assurance that we will continue to make investments in properties that meet our investment criteria

Capital Expenditures

We intend to maintain each hotel property in good repair and condition and in conformity with applicable

laws and regulations in accordance with the franchisors standards and any agreed-upon requirements in our

management and loan agreements After we have acquired hotel
property in certain instances we may be

required to complete property improvement plan PIP in order to be granted new franchise license for
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that particular hotel property PIPs are intended to bring the hotel property up to the franchisors standards

Certain of our loans require that we make available for such purposes at the hotels collateralizing these loans

amounts up to 5% of gross revenue from such hotels We intend to cause the expenditure of amounts in excess

of such obligated amounts if nacessary to comply with any reasonable requirements and otherwise to the

extent that we deem such expenditures to be in the best interests of the hotel To the extent that.we spend

more on capital expenditures than is available from our operations which is the case with respect to the PIPs

we are required to complete during 2011 we intend to fund those capital expenditures with available cash and

borrowings under the revolving credit facility

Related Party Transactions

We have entered into transactions and arrangements with related parties that could result in potential

conflicts of interest See Risk Factors and Note 13 to the ConsolidatØ6 Finanºial Statements included in this

Annual Report on Form 10K

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of Decbmbet 31 2010 and the effect these

obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future penods in thousands We had no

other material off-balance sheet arrangements at Deºember 31 2010

Payments Due by Period

Less Than One to Three to More Than
Contractual Obligations Total One Year Three Years Five Years Five Years

Corporate office lease 178 37 77 64

Revolving credit facility including interest1 43127 1937 41190

Ground lease 12897 201 408 417 11871

Property Loans including interest1 15424 1050 2100 12275

$71626 $3225 $43775 $12756 $11871

Assumes no additional borrowings under the revoling credit facility and interest payments are based on the

interest rate in effect as of December 31 2010 See Note Debt to our consolidated financial state

ments for additional information relating to ourproperty loans

On January 31 2011 we entered into contract to purchase hotel located in the greater Pittsburgh

Pennsylvania area for total purchase price of approximately $24.9 million which -includes the assumption of

approximately $7.3 million in debt on the property The acquisition of this hotel is subject to customary

closing requirements and conditions and there is no assurance that this acquisition will be consummated in

timely manner or at all

Inflation

Operators of hotels in general possess the ability to adjust room rates daily to reflect the effects of

inflation However competitive pressures may limit the ability of our management companies to raise room

rates

Critical Accounting Policies

We consider the following policies critical because they require estimates about matters that are inherently

uncertain involve various assumptions and require management judgment The preparation of the consolidated

financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to-make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results may differ from these -estimates and

assumptions
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Investment in Hotel Properties

We allocate the purchase prices of hotel propertiesBcquired based on the fair value of the acquired real

estate furniture fixtures and equipment identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities In making

estimates of fair value for purposes of allocating the purchase price we utilize number of sources of

information that are obtained in connection with the acquisition of hotel property including valuations

performed by independent third parties and information obtained about each hotel property resulting from pie

ac4uisition due diligence Hotel property acquisition costs such as transfer taxes title insurance environmental

and property condition reviews and legal and accounting fees are expensed in the period incurred

Our mvestment in hotel properties are camed at cost and are depreciated using the straight line method

over the estimated useful lives of the assets generally 40 years for buildings 15
years

for building

improvements seven years
for land improvements and three to ten years

for furniture fixtures and equipment

Renovations and/or replacements at the hotel properties that improve or extend the life of the assets are

capitalized and depreciated over their useful lives while repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred

Upon the sale or retirement of property and equipment the cost and related accumulated depreciation are

removed from the Companys accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recogaized in the consolidated

statements of operations

We will periodically review our hotel properties for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the hotel properties may not be recoverable Events or

circumstances that may cause review include but are not limited to adverse changes in the demand for

lodging at the properties due to declining national or local economic conditions and/of new hotel construction

in markets where the hotels are located When such conditions exist management will perform an analysis to

determine if the estimated undiscounted future cash flows without interest charges from operations .and the

proceeds from the ultimate disposition of hotel property exceed its carrying value If the estimated

undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount an adjustment to reduce the carrying amount

to the related hotel propertys estimated fair market value is recorded and an impairment loss recognized We

do not believe that there are any
facts or circumstances indicating impairment in the carrying value of any of

our hotel properties

We will consider hotel property as held for sale when binding agreement to purchase the property has

been signed under whiOh the buyer has conmiitted significant amount of nonrefundable cash no significant

financing contingencies exist which could cause the transaction not to be completed in timely manner and

the sale is expected to occur within one year If these criteria are met depreciation and amortization of the

hotel property will cease and an impairment loss if any will be reØognized if the fairvalue of the hotel

property less the costs to sell is lower than the carrying amount ofthe hotel property We will classify the

loss together with the related operating results as discontinued operations in the Consolidated statØmetits of

operations and classify the assets and related liabilities as held for sala in the consolidated balance sheets As

of December 31 2010 we had no hotel properties held fpr sale

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from hotel operations are recognized when rooms are occupied and when services are provided

Revenues consist of amounts derived from hotel operations including sales from room meeting room gift

shop in-room movie and other ancillary amenities Sales use occupancy and similar taxes are collected and

presented on net basis excluded from revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

Share-Based Compensation

We measure compensation expense for the restricted share awards based upon the fair market value of

our common shares at the date of grant Compensation expense is recognized on straight-line basis over the

vesting period and is included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated

statement of operations We pay dividends on nonvested resthcted shares
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Income Taxes

We intend to elect to be taxed as REIT under the Code and intend to operate as such commencing with

our short taxable year ended December 31 2010 To qualify as REIT we must meet certain organizational

and operational requirements including requirement to distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable

income to our shareholders which is computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital

gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP As REIT

we generally will not be subject to federal income tax to the extent we currently distribute our taxable income

to our shareholders If we failto qualify as REIT in any taxable year we will be subject to federal income

tax on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates and generally will not be permitted to qualify

for treatment as REIT for federal income tax purposes
for the four taxable years following the

year during

which qualification is lost unless the IRS grants us relief under certain statutory jrovisions Such an event

could materially adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to shareholders

However we are organized to operate in such manner as to qualify for treatment as REIT

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2010 the FASB issued updated accounting guidance to clarify that pro forma disclosures

should be presented as if business combination occurred at the beginning of the prior annual period for

purposes of preparing both the current repdrting period and the prior repOrting period pro fonna financial

information. These disclosures should be accompanied by narrative description about the nature and amount

of material rionrectirring pro forma adjustments The new accounting guidance is effective for business

combinations consummated in periods beginning after December 14 2010 and should be -applied prospec

tively as of the date of adoption Early adoption is perthitted We will adopt the new disclosures on January

2011 We do nOt believe that the adoption of this guidance will have material impact on our consolidated

financial statements

Item 7A Quantitative and QualitativeDisclosures about Market Risk

Interest rate risk

We may be exposed to interest rate changes primarily as result of our assumption of long-term debt in

connection with our acquisitions Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of

interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs To achieve these

objectives we will borrow primarily at fixed rates or variable rates with the lowest margins available and in

some cases with the ability to convert variable rates to fixed rates With respect to variable rate financing we

will assess interest rate risk by identifying and monitoring changes in interest rate exposures that may

adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities

At December 31 2010 our consolidated debt was comprised of floating and fixed rate debt The

following table provides information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest

rates The fair value of our fixed rate debt indicates the estimated principal amount of debt having the same

debt service requirements that could have been borrowed at the date presented at then current market interest
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rates The following table provides information abotit our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in

interest rates dollars in thousands

Expected Maturities

Fair

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total Value

Liabilities

Floating rate

Debt $37800 $3780p $37805

Average interest rate1 450% 450% 50%
______ ______

50%

Fixed rate

Debt $334 $354 375 $398 $4958 $5914 $12333 $12574

Average interest rate 90%5.90% 5.90%50% 5.85% 5.96% 5.91%

L1BORfibor rate of 1.25% plus.a margin of 3.25% at December 31 20l0The one-month LIBOR rate

was 0.26% at December 31 2010

We estimate that hypothetical one-percentage point increase in the variable interest rate would result in

additional interest expense of $0.4 million annually This assumes that the amount outstanding under our

floating rate debt remains at $37.8 million the balance as of December 31 2010

Item Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See our Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto beginning at page F-i

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer we have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our

disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 3a-15b as of the end of the period

covered by this report Based on that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have

concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that

information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules and forms and that

such information is accumulated and communicated to our management to allow timely decisions regarding

required disclosure

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the last

fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control

over financial reporting

This annual report does not include report of managements assessment regarding internal control over

financial reporting or an attestation report of the Companys registered public accounting firm due to

transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART Ill

Item 10 Trustees Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement for

the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 26 2011

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement for

the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on Ma 26 2011

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by this item is incoorated by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement for

the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 26 2011

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Trustee Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement for

the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May .26 2011

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement for

the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 26 2011

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements

Included herein at pages F-i through F-22

Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule is included herein at page F-23

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

All other schedules for which provision is made in Regulation S-X are either not required to be included

herein under the related instructions or are inapplicable or the related information is included in the footnotes

to the applicable financial statement and therefore have been omitted

Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

48



EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

3.1 Form of Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Chatham Lodging Trust1

3.2 Form of Bylaws of Chatham Lodging Trust1

3.3 Agreement of Limited Partnership of Chatham Lodging L.P.1

10.1 Chatham Lodging Trust Equity Incentive Plan2

10.2a Form of Employment Agreement between Chatham Lodging Trust and Jeffrey Fisher1

10.2b Form of Employment Agreement between Chatham Lodging Trust and Peter Wihis1

10.2c Form of Employment Agreement between Chatham Lodging Trustand Dennis Craven3

10.3 Subscription Agreement dated November 2009 between Jeffrey Fisher and Chatham Lodging

Trust4

10.4a Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions dated November 16 2009 by and among
Chatham Lodging Trust and certain affiliates of RU Development LLC for six Homewood Suites

hotels5

10.4b First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions for six Homewood Suites

hotels dated December 24 20091

10.5 Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated as of May 18 2010 by and among Chatham Lodging Trust

as purchaser and certain affiliates of Moody National Companies as sellers for the Residence Inn

by Marriott White Plains NY Hampton Inn Suites Houston Medical Center Houston TX
SpringHill Suites by Marriott Washington PA and Courtyard by Marriott Altoona PA2

10.6 Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated as of June 17 2010 by and among Chatham Lodging Trust

as purchaser and Holtsville Hotel Group LLC and FB Holtsville Utility LLC as sellers for the

Residence Inn Long Island Holtsville Holtsville NY2
10.7 Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated as of August 2010 by and between Chatham Lodging

Trust as purchaser and New Roc Hotels LLC as seller for the Residence Inn New Rochelle

New Rochelle NY3
10.8 Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated as of August 18 2010 by and among Chatham Lodging

Trust as purchaser and Royal Hospitality Washington LLC and Lee Estates LLC as sellers for the

Homewood Suites Carlsbad Carlsbad CA3
10.9 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Chatham Lodging Trust and its officers and trustees1

10.10 Form of LTIP Unit Vesting Agreement

10.11 Form of Share Award Agreement for Trustees1

10.12 Form of Share Award Agreement for Officers2

10.13 Form of IHM Hotel Management Agreement1

10.14 Credit Agreement dated as of October 12 2010 among Chatham Lodging Trust Chatham Lodging

L.P as borrower the lenders and other guarantors party thereto and Barclays Bank PLC as

administrative agent6

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of Chatham Lodging Trust

23.1 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Consent to include Report on Financial Statements of Chatham

Lodging Trust

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a/15d- 14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a/i Sd- 14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Incorporated by reference to Amendment No to the Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-il

filed with the SEC on February 12 2010 File No 333-162889

Incorporated by reference to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q filed with the SEC on

August 13 2010 File No 001-34693

Incorporated by reference to the Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-il filed with the SEC on

October 28 2010 File No 333-170176

Incorporated by reference to the Registrants Registration Stateineni onForm S-il filed with the SEC on

November 2009 File No 333-162889

Incorporated by reference to Amendment No to the Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-li

filed with the SEC on December 2009 File No 333-162889

JicorporatecL by reference to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

October 18 2010
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

/5/ JEFFREY FIsHER

Jeffrey Fisher

Chairman of the Board President and Chief

Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Dated March 2011

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

Is JEFFERY FISHER Chairman of the Board President and Chief March 2011

Jeffrey Fisher Executive Officer Principal Executive

Officer

Is DENNIS CRAVEN Executive Vice President and Chief March 2011

Dennis Craven Financial Officer Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer

/5/ MILES BERGER Trustee March 2011

Miles Berger

Is THOMAS CROCKER Trustee March 2011

Thomas Crocker

Is JACK DEBOER Trustee March 2011

Jack DeBoer

Is GLEN GILBERT Trustee March 2011

Glen Gilbert

/s/ GERALD GOLDSMITH Trustee March 2011

Gerald Goldsmith

/s/ ROBERT PERLMUflER Tmstee March 2011

Robert Perimutter

Is ROLF RUHFUS Trustee March 2011
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Is JOEL ZEMANS Tmstee March 2011

Joel Zemans
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of

Chatham Lodging Trust

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of

operations equity and of cash flows present fairly jn all material respects çhe financial pQsition of Chatham

Lodging Trust and its subsidianes at December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its

cash flows for the year ended December 31 2010 in conformity with accounting priticiple generally accepted

in the United States of America These financial statement are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits We

conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the fmancial statements are free of material misstatement An audit

includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis

for our opinion

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Fort Lauderdale Florida

March 82011
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 2010 and 2009

2010 2009

In thousands

except share data

ASSETS

Investment in hotel properties net $208080

Cash and cash equivalents 4768 24

Restricted cash 3018

Hotel receivables net of allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $15 and $0

respectively 891

Deferred costs net 4710

Prepaid expenses and other assets 735

Total assets $222202 $24

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Debt 50133

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 5248 14

Distributions payable 1657

Total liabilities 57038 14

Conimitments and contingencies

EQUITY
Shajeholders Equity

Preferred shares $0.01 par value 100000000 shares authorized and unissued at

December 31

Common shares $0.01 par value 500000000 shares authorized 9208750 and

1000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31 92

Additional paid-in capital 170250 10

Unearned compensation 1162
Accumulated deficit 4441

Total shareholders equity 164739 10

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling Interest in Operating Partnership 425

Total equity 165164 10

Total liabilities and equity $222202 $24

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Consolidated Statement of Operations

for the year ended December 31 2010

Revenue

Room

Other operating

Total revenue

Expenses

Hotel operating expenses

Room

Other operating

Total hotel operating expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Property taxes and insurance

General and adnænitrative

Hotel property acquisition costs

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Interest and other income

2010

In thousands

except share and

per share data

24743

727

25470

5989

9036

15025

2564

1606

3547

3189

25931

461
193

932

1260

17

1217

Interest expense including amortization of deferred fees

Loss before income tax expense

Income tax expense

Net loss attributable to common shareholders

Loss per Common Share Basic

Net loss attributable to common shareholders Note 10

Loss per Common Share Diluted

Net loss attributable to common shareholders Note 10

Weighted average number of conunon shares outstanding

Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Consolidated Statements of Equity

for the years ended December .312010 and 2009

Noncontrolling
Additional Total Interest in

Common Shares
Paid-In Unearned Accumulated Shareholders Operating Total

Shares Amount Capital Compensation Deficit Equity Partnership Equity

In thousands except share data

Issuance of shares 10/26/2009 1000 10 10 10

Balance December 31 2009 1000 10 10 10

Issuance of shares net of offering

costs of $13752 9125000 91 168657 168748 168748

Repurchase of common shares 1000 10 10 10
Issuance of restricted shares 87000 1654 1655

Forfeiture of restricted shares 3250 61 61

Amortization of share based

compensation 432 432 515 947

Dividends declared on common

shares 3224 3224 3224
Distributions on LTIP units 90 90
Net loss 1217 1217 1217

Balance December 31 2010 9208750 $92 $170250 $1162 $4441 $164739 $425 $165164

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended December 31 2010

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation

Amortization of deferred franchise fees

Amortization of deferred financing fees included in interest costs

Share based compensation

Changes in assets and liabilities

Hotel receivables

Deferred costs

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Improvements and additions to hotel properties

Acquisition of hotel properties net of cash acquired Note

Restricted cash

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Net borrowings from revolving credit facility

Payments of debt

Payment of financing costs

Paytent of offering costs

Proceeds from issuance of common shares

Distributions-common shares/units

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

2010

In thousands

1217

2537

27

280

1157

336
1218

76
4120

5274

3610
197525

376

201511

37800

101
3799

13752

182490

1657

200981

4744

24

4768

527

27

Cash flows from operating activities

Netloss

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing information

The Company acquired 13 hotels with net assets of $197525 net of cash during 2010 through the

use of cash and the assumption of assets and liabilities Note

The Company has accrued distributions payable of $1657 These distributions were paid on

January 14 2011

The Company assumed the mortgages on the purchase of the Altoona and Washington hotels for

$12434

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Organization

Chatham Lodging Trust was formed as Maryland real estate investment trust on October 26 2009 and

intends to elect to qualify as -a -real estate investment-trust REIT11pr U.S federal -income tax purposes

beginning with its short taxable year ended December 312010 We are internally-managed and were

organized to invest pnmanly in premium branded upscale extended stay and select service hotels

We completed our initial public offering the fF0 on April 21 2010 The IPO resulted in the sale of

8625000 common shares at $20.00 price per share generating $172.5 million in $ross proceeds Net

proceeds after underwriters discounts and commissions and other offering costS vere approximately

$158.7 million Concurrently with the closing of the IPO in separate private placement pursuant to

Regulation under the- Securities Ad of i93 as amended the Securities Act we sold 500000 of our

common shares fo Jeffrey Fisher our Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer at the public

offeringprice of $20.00 per share for proceeds of $10.0 million

We hadno operations prior to the consummation of the IPO Following the closing of the IPO we
contributed the net proceeds from the IPO and thç concurrent private placement together with the proceeds of

our February 2011 offerjng to Chatham Lodging the Operating Partnership in exchange for

partnership interests in the Operating Partnership Substantially all of our assets are held by and all of our

operations are conducted through the Operating Partnership Chatham Lodging Trust is the sole general partner

of the Operating Partnership and owns 100% of the common units of the limited partnership interest in the

Operating Partnership Certain of our executive officers hold unvested long term incentive plan units in the

Operating Partnership which are presented as noncontrolling interests on the accompanying consolidated

balance sheet

On February we completed public offering that resulted in the sale of 4600000 common
shares at $16.00 per share generating $73.6 million in

gross proceeds. Net proceeds after underwriters

discounts and commissions and other offering costs- were approximately $69.0 million

AS of December 31 2010 we owned 13 hotels with an aggregate of 1650 rooms located in states To

qualify as REIT we cannot operate the hotels Therefore the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries lease

thb hotels to wholly owned lesseesubsidiaries of our takable REIT subsidiaries TRS Lessees Each hotel is

leased to TRS under percentage lease that provides for iŁntal payments equal to the greater of fixed

base rent amount or ii percentage rent based on hotel room revenue The initial term of eaºh of the TRS

leases is yearsL Lease revenue from each TRS Lessee is eliminated in consolidation Our TRS Lessees have

entered into management agreements with third party management companies that provide day-to-day

management for our hotels Island Hospitality Management Inc IHM which is 90% oiiiedbS Mr Fisher

manages 5-hotels Homewood Suites Management LLC IAH Manager subsidiary of Hilton Worldwide

Inc Hilton manages hotels and Concord Hospitality Enterprises Company Concord manages-

hotels
--

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements and related notes have beeC prepared in accordance with

U.S generally acdepted accounting principles GAAP and in conformity with the rules and regulations of

the Securities and Exchange Conmiissian SEC These consolidated financial-statements in the opinion of

management include all adjustments cOnsidered necessary for falr presentation of thconsolidated balance

sheets and consolidated statements of operationS of equity and of cash -flows for the periods presented The

consolidated financial statements include all of the accounts of the COmpany and its wholly owned
subsidiaries All intercompany balances and-transactions are eliminated in consolidation.-
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CILATHAM LODGING TRUST

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contihgent assets

and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates

Investment in Hotel Properties

The Company allocates the purchase pnces of hotel properties acquired based on the fair value of the

acquired real estate fumiture fixtures and equipment identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities In

making estimates of fair value for purposes of allocating the purchase price the Company utilizes number of

sources of information that are obtained in connection with the acquisition of hotel property including

valuations performed by independent third parties and information obtained about each hotel property resulting

from pre-acquisition due diligence Hotel property acquisition bosts uch as transfer taxe title insüranc

environmental and property condition reviews and legal and accounting fees are expensed in the penod

incurred

The Company investments in hotel properties are camed at cost and are depreciated using the straight

line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets 40
years

for buildings 15
years

for building

improvements seven years for hind improvements and three to ten years forfumiture fixtures and equipment

Renovations and/or replacements at the hotel properties that improve or extend the life of the assets are

capitalized and depreciated over their useful lives while repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred

Upon the sale or retirement of property and equipment the cost and related accumulated depreciation are

removed from the Companys accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated

statements of operations

The Company will periodically review its hotel properties for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the hotel properties may not be recoverable Events or

circumstances that may cause review include but are not limited to adverse changes in the demand for

lodging at the properties due to declining national or local economic conditions and/or new hotel construction

in markets where the hotels are located When such conditions exist management will perform an analysis to

determine if the estimated undiscounted future cash flows without interest charges from operations and the

proceeds from the ultimate disposition of hotel property exceed its carrying value If the estimated

undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount an adjustment to reduce thecarrying amount

to the related hotel propertys estimated fair market value is recorded and an impairment loss recognized No

impairment losses were recognized for the year ended December 31 2010

The Company will consider hotel property as held fOr sale when binding agreement to purchase the

property has been signed under which the buyer has committed significant amount of nonrefundable cash no

sigmficant financing contingencies exist which could cause the transaction not to be completed in timely

manner and the sale is expected to occur within one year If these cntena are met depreciation and

amortization of the hotel property will cease and an impairment loss if any will be recognized if the fairvalue

of the hotel property less the costs to sell is lower than the carrying amount of the hotel property The

Company will classify the loss together with the 3related operating results as discontinued operations in the

consolidated statements of operations and classify the assets and related liabilities as held for sale in the

consolidated balance sheets As of December 31 2010 the Company had no hotel properties held for sale
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand demand deposits with fmancial institutions and short

term liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less Cash balances iii individual banks

may exceed federally insurable limits

Restricted Cash

Restncted cash represents purchase pnce deposits held in esprow for potential hotel acquisitions currently

under contract and escrows for reserves required pursuant to the Company oans or hotel management

agreements Included in restricted cash on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2010

are deposits for hotel acquisitions of $0 million and $3 million of other escrows The hotel mortgage loan

agreements require the Company to fund 5% of gross revenues on monthly basis for fumishings fixtures and

equipment and general repair maintenance reserves Replacement Reserve in an account with the Lender In

addition insurance and real estate tax reserves are required to be deposited into an escrow account held by

Lender

Hotel Receivables

Hotel receivables consist of amounts owed by guests staying at the Company hotels at quarter end and

amounts due from business and group customers An allowance for doubtful accounts is provided and

maintained at level believed to be adequate to absorb estimated probable receivable losses At December 31

2010 the allowance for doubtful accounts was $15 thousand

Deferred Costs

Deferred costs consist of franchise agreement fees for the Companys hotels deferred loan dOsts and

deferred costs related to the February 2011 common share offering Franchise fees are recorded at cost and

amortized over straight-line basis over the term of the franchise agreements Loan costs are recorded at cost

and amortized over straight-line basis which approximates the interest rate method over the term of the loan

The deferred offering posts will be reclassified into additional paid-in capital in 2011 For the year ended

December 31 2010 amortization expense related to franchise fees of $27 thousand is included in depreciation

and amortization and amortization expense related to loan costs of $0 million is included in interest expense

in the consolidated statement of operations

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

The Company prepaid expenses and other assets consist of prepaid insurance deposits and hotel

supplies inventory

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from hotel operations are recognized whenrooms are occupied and wheti services are provided

Revenues consist of amounts derived from hotel operations including sales from room meeting room food

and beverage facilities gift shop in-room movie and other ancillary amenities Sales use occupancy and

similar taxes are collected and presented on net basis excluded from revenues in the accompanying

consolidated statement of operations

Share-Based Compensation

The Company measures compensation expense for the restricted share awards based upon the fair market

value of its common shares at the date of grant Compensation expense
is recognized on straight-line basis
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

over the vesting period and is included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying

consolidated statement of operations The Company will pay dividends on nonvested restricted shares

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share BPS is computed by dividing net income loss available for commob

shareholders adjusted for dividends on unvested share grants by the weighted average number of common

shares outstanding for the period Diluted BPS is computed by dividing net income loss available for

common shareholders adjusted for dividends on unvested share grants by the weighted average number of

common shares outstanding plus potentially dilutive securities such as share grants or shares issuable in the

event of conversion of operating partnership units No adjustment is made for shares that are anti-dilutive

during the period The Company restricted share awards and long-term incentive plan dnits are entitled to

receive dividends if declared The nghts to dividends declared are non forfeitable and therefore the unvested

restricted shares and long-term incentive plan units qualify as participating securities requiring the allocation

of earnings under the two-class method to calculate BPS The percentage of earnings allocated to the unvested

restricted shares is based on the proportion of the weighted average unvested resthcted shares outstanding to

the total of the basic weighted average common shares outstanding and the weighted average unvested

restricted shares.outstanding Basic BPS is then con putec by dividing income less earnings allocable to

unvested restricted shares by the basic weighted average number of shares outstanding Diluted BPS is

computed similar to basic BPS except the weighted average number of shares outstanding is increased to

include the effect of potentially dilutive securities Because the Company reported net loss for the period no

allocation was made to the unvested restricted shares or the long-term incentive plan units

Incrne Taxes

The Company is currently subject to corporate federal and state income taxes Prior to April 21 2010 the

Company had no operating results subject to taxation

The Company intends to elect to be taxed as REIT for federal income tax purposes tinder Sections 856

through 860 of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code To qualify as REIT the

Company must meet certain organizational and operational requirements including requirement to distribute

-1 at least 90% of the Companys annual REIT taxable income to its shateholders which iS cothputd without

regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as

calculated in accordance with U.S GAAP As RBIT the Company generally will nOt be subject to -federal

income tax to the extent it distributes qualifying dividendstp its sharehohjers..Jf the Company fails to qualify

as REIT in any taxable year it will be subject to federal income tax on its taxable income at regular

corporate income tax rates and generally will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as REIT for federal

income tax purposes for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the

Intemal Revenue Service grants the Company relief under certain statutory provisions Sæch ah dveæt could

materially adversely affect the Companys net income and net cash available for- distribution.to shareholders

However the.Company intends to organize andoperate .in such manner as to qualify for treatment as

REIT.. ..
The Company leases its hotels to TRS Lessees which are wholly owned by taxable REIT subsidianes

each TRS that are wholly owned by the Operating Partnership Bach TRS is subject to federal and state

income taxes and the Company accounts for taxes where applicable in accordance with the provisions of

Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 740 using the asset and liability

method which recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for future tax consequences arising from

differences between financial statement carrying amounts and income tax bases
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Notes to the Consolidate Financial Statements Continued

Organizational and Offering Costs

The Compahy expenses Organizational costs Os incurred Offering costs which include selling comrnis

sions are recorded as reduction in additional paid-in capital in shareholders equity

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2010 the FASB issued updated accounting guidance to clarify that pro forma disclosures

should be presented as if busmess combination occurred at the begrnmng of the pnor annual penod for

purposes
of

preparing
both the current reporting penod and the pnor reporting penod pro fonna financial

information These disclosures should be accompanied by narrative descnption about the nature and amount

of matenal nonrecumng pro
forma adjustments The new accounting guidance is effective for business

combinations consummated in penods beginning after December 14 2010 and should be applied prospec

tively as of the date of adoption Ea$y adoption is permitted We will adopt the new disclosures on January

2011 We do not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have matenal impact on our consolidated

financial statements

Acqmsition of Hotel Properties

Acquisition of HØtel PrAperties

On April 23 2010 the Company acquired sixhotel properties the Initial Acquisition Hotels for an

aggregate purchase price of $73.5 million plus customary pro-rated amounts and closing costs Each of the

Initial Acquisition Hotels Operates under the Homewood Suites by Hilton brand The Initial Acquisition Hotels

contain an aggregate of 813 rooms and are located in the major metropolitan statistical areas of Boston

Massachusetts Minneapolis Minnesota Nashville Tennessee Dallas Texas Hartford Connecticut and

OrlandoFlorida

On July 2010 the Company acquired the 120-room Hampton Inn Suites Houston-Medical Center in

Houston Texas the Houston hotel foP $16.5 million lus customary prorated amounts and closing c6sts

On August 2010 the Company acquired the 124-room Residence Inn by Marriott Long Island

Holtsville on Long Island New York the Holtsville hotel for $2-i .3 million plus customary pro-rated

amounts and closing costs

On August 24 2010 the Company acquired the 105-room Courtyard by Marriott in Altoona Pennsylva

ala the Altoona hotel and the 86-room SpringHill Suites by Marriott in Washington Pennsylvania the

Washington hotel for total cash purchase price of $23.3 million plus customary pro-rated amounts and

closing costs including the assumption of $12.4 million of debt on the Hotels

On September 23 2010 the Company acquired the 133 room Residence Inn by Mamott White Plains

in White Plains New York the White Plains hotel for $244 million plus customary pro-rated amounts and

closing costs

On October 2010 the Company acquired the 124-room Residence Inn by Marriott- New Rochellein

New Rochelle New york the New Rochelle hotel for $21.0 million plus customary pro-rated amounts and

closing costs

On November 2010 the Company acquired the 145-room Homewood Suites by Hilton Carls

bad-North San Diego County in Carlsbad CA the Carlsbad hotel for $32.0 million plus customary pto

rated amounts and closing costs
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Hotel Management Agreements

The Initial Acquisition Hotels are managed by the IAH Manager subsidiary of Hilton TRS Lessee

assumed each of the existing hotel management agreements- for these hotels Each hotel management

agreement previously became effective on December 20 2000 has an initial term of 15 years and is renewable

for an additional five-year period at the IAH Managers option by written notice to the Company no later than

Hz 120 days prior to the expiration of the initial term Under the hotel management agreements the JAH Manager

receives base rnanagement fee equal to 2% of the hotels gross room revenue and if certain financial

thresholds are met or exceeded an incentive management fee equal to 10% of the hotel net operating

income less fixed costs base management fees agreed upon retum on the owner onginal investment and

debt service payments Pnor to Apnl 23 2013 each of these six management agreements may be terminated

for cause including the failure of the managed hotel to meet specified performance levels and may be

terminated by the manager in the event the Company undergoes change in control without payment of

termination fees If the new owner does not assume the existing management agreements and does not obtain

Homewood Suites franchise license upon such change of control the Company will be required to pay

termination fee to the IAH Manager Beginning on April 23 2013 the Comany may terminate the six Hilton

management agreements upon six months notice to the manager

The Houston Holtsville White Plains New Rochelle and Carlsbad hotels are managed by IHM hotel

management company 90 percent-owned by the Companys chief executive officer pursuant to management

agreements between TRS Lessee and IHM The management agreements with IHM are for five-year term

and provide for base management fees of 3% of the hotels gross room revenue and incentive management

fees of 10% of net operating income in excess of retum threshold as defined in the agreements plus

monthly accounting fee of $1 thousand per hotel property Incentive- management fees are capped at 1% of

gross hotel revenue DIM- may extend the-management agreements for two additional 5-year renewal terms

upon 90 days written notice to the Company The management agreements- may be terminated upon the sale

of the hotels for no termination fee-upon six months advance notice The management agreements may also

be terminated for cause including the failure of the hotels operating performance to meet specified levels

The Company paid to IHM fees of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010

The Altoona and Washington hotels are managed by Concord The management agreements- with Concord

provide for base management fees equal to 4% of the managed hotels gross room revenue The initial ten-

year term- of each management agreement is -set to- expire on February 28 2017 and will renew automatically

for successive one-year terms unless terminated by the TRS Lessee or Concord by written notice to the other

party no later than 90 days prior to the terms expiration The management agreements may be terminatedfor

cause including the failure of the hotels operating performance to meet specified levels

Hotel Franchise Agreements

Our TRS Lessees have entered- into franchise agreemetits for oUr hotels Our TRS Lessees have entered

into new hotel franchise agreements with Promus Hotels Inc subsidiary of Hilton as manager for our six

Homewood Suites by Hilton hotels Each of the new hotel franchise agreements has an initial term of 15 years

and may be renewed for an additional 5-year term

These Hilton hotel franchise agreements provide for franchise royalty fee equal to 4% of the hotels

gross tOom-revenue and program fee equal to 4% of the hotels gross room revenue The Hilton franchise

agreemetits provide that the franchisor may terminate the franchise agreement the event that the applicable

franchisee fails to cure an event of default or in certain circumstances such as the franchisees bankruptcy or

insolvency are terminable by Hilton at will

Our TRS Lessees have entered into franchise agreements with Marriott Intemational Inc Marriott

relating to our Residence Inn properties in Holtsville New York New Rochelle New York and White Plains
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

New York our Courtyard property in Altoona Pennsylvania and our SpringHill Suites property in Washington

Pennsylvania These franchise agreements have initial terms ranging from 15 to 20 years andwill expire

between 2025 and 2030 None of the agreements has renewal option Mariiott franchise agreements

provide for franchise fees ranging from 5.0% to 5.5% of the hotels gross room sales and marketing fees

ranging from 0% to 5% of the hotel gross room sales The Marnott franchise
agreements are terminable

by Marriott in the event that the applicable franchisee fails to cure an eventof default or in certain

circumstances such as the franchisees bankruptcy or insolvency are terminable by Marriott at will The

Marriott franchise agreements provide that in the event of proposed transfth of ihØ hotel our TRS Lessees

interest in the agreement or moie than specified amount of the TRS to competitor of Marriott Marriott has

the right lo purchase or lease the hotel undei termeconsistent with those contained in the respective offer and

may terminate if our TRS Lessee elects to proceed with such transfŁr

iL
The Hampton Inn Suites Houston Medical Center is govemed by franchise agreement with

Hampton Inns Franchise LLC Hampton Inns The franchise agreement has an imtial term of approxi

mately LO years and expires on July 31 2020 There is no renewal option The Hampton Inns franchise

agreement provides for monthly program fee equal to 4% of the hotel gross rooms revenue and monthiy

royalty fee equal to 5% of the hotels gross rooms revenue Hampton Inns may terminate the franchise

agreement in the event that the franchisee fails to cure an event of default or in certain circumstances such as

the fràncbisee bankruptcy or insolvency Hampton Inns may terminate the agreement at will

The Carlsbad-North San Diego County hotel is govemed by franchise agreeMent with PrOmus

Homewood Suites Franchise LLC The franchise agreement has an initial term Of 18 years and is nonL

renewable The franchise agreement provides for franchise royalty feeequal to 4% of the hotels grOss room

revenue and program fee equal to 4% of the hotels gross room revenue Thefranchise agreement has no

termination rights unless the franchisee fails to cure an event of default in accdrdancØ with the franchise

agreements

Franchise fees were approximately $1.9 million for the year ended DeceMber 31 2010

Hotel Purchase Price Allocation

The allocation of the purchase price to the hotels based on their fair value was as foIlovs in

thousands

Hampton Inn

Initial Suites Residence Inn

AcqIisition Houston Hoitsyffie Moody Three Residence Inn Homewood Suites

Hótels Houston TX Holtsville NY Portfolio New Rochelle Carlsbad CA Total

Land $12120 $3200 $2200 3200 $3900 $24620

Building and

improvements 57976 12708 18765 39099 20281 27520 176349

Furniture fixtures and

equipment 3421 325 335 943 434 580 6038

Cash 30 48

Restricted cash 2642 2642

Accounts receivable 379 24 106 46 555

Prepaid expenses and

other assets 31 83 310 170 65 659

Debt 12434 12434
Accounts payable and

accrued expenses 440 148 56 180 36 44 904

Net assets acquired $73517 $16111 $21329 33693 $20898 $32025 $197573

Net assets acquired net

of cash $73487 $16109 $21327 33686 $20895 $32021 $197525
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

The acquisition of the Altoona Washington and White Plains hotels were acquired from parties under

common control of the seller which seller is not affiliated with the Company and their acquisition is referred

to as the Moody Three Portfolio in the above chart

All of the Companys hotel revenue and expenses are comprised of hOtel revenue and expenses from the

hotels acquired during the year ended December 31 2010

Pro Forma Financial Information

The following condensed pro forma financial information presents the results of operations as if the

acquisition of the Initial Acquisition Houston Holtsville Moody Three Portfolio New Rochelle and Carlsbad

hotels had taken place on January 2010 Since the Company commenced operations on April 21 2010 upon

completion of the IPO pro forma adjustments have been included for corporate general and administrative

expense and income-taxes for the period presented The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative

purposes only and are not tiecessarily indicative of what actual results of operations would have been had the

acquisition taken place on January 2010 nor do they purport to represent the iesults of operations for future

periods in thousands except share and per share data

For the Year Ended

December 31 2010

IJnaudited

Pro forma total revenue 54984

Pro forma total hotel expense 32507

Pro forma total operating expenses 48616

Pro forma operating income 6368

Pro forma net income 5186

Pro forma income per share

Basic and diluted 0.56

Weighted average Common Shares Outstanding

Basic and diluted 9208750

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts at level believed to be adequate to absorb

estimated probable losses That estimate is based on past iss experience current economic and market

conditions and other relevant factors The allowance for doubtful accounts was $15 thousand as of

December 31 2010
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Investment in Hotel Properties

The Company did not own any hotel properties at December 31 2009 Investment in hotel properties as

of December 31 2010 consisted of the following in thousands

December 31 2010

Land and improvements 24 620

Building and improvement 176354.

Furniture fixtures and equipment 6138

Construction in progress 3505

210617

L6s5 accumulated depreciation 2537

Investment in hotel properties net $208 080

Debt

The Company assumed $7.0 million loan onthe Altoona hotel and $5.4 million loan on the

Washington hotel in connection with their acquisition Each loan is collateralized by the hotel and requires

minimum debt service coverage ratio and the Company was in compliance with these covenants at

December 31 2010 Certain information regarding the loans are as follows in thousands

Altoona Loan Washington Loan

Balance at December 31 2010 6924 5408

Interest rate 5.96% 5.84%

Maturity April 2016 April 2015

Monthly principal and interest payment 49 39

Minimum debt service coverage ratio .5x 65x

On October 12 2010 the Company as parent guarantor and the Operating Partnership as borrower the

Borrower entered into $85.0 million three-year secured revolving credit agreement the Credit

Agreement subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement the Borrower may
increase the original principal amount of the Credit Agreement by an additional $25.0 million Pursuant to the

Credit Agreement the Company and certain indirect subsidiaries of the Company guarantee the obligations

under the Credit Agreement any notes and the other loan documents including any obligations under hedging

arrangements From time to time the Borrower may be required to cause additional subsidiaries to become

guarantors under the Credit Agreement The Credit Agreement permits the issuance of letters of credit and

provides for swing line loans

Availability under the credit agreement is based on the least of the following the aggregate

commitments of all lenders ii percentage of the as-is appraised value of qualifying borrowing base

properties subject to certain concentration limitations and other deductions and iii percentage of net

operating income from qualifying borrowing base properties subject to certain limitations and other

deductions We incur 0.50% fee for amounts unused on the credit facility calculated by subtracting amounts

borrowed from the total facility amount The credit agreement is secured by each borrowing base property

including all personal property assets related thereto and the equity interests of borrowing base entities and
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certain other of our subsidiaries At December 31 2010 there were eleven properties in the borrowing base

under the credit agreement

Borrowings bear interest at rate per annum equal to at the option of the Company the greater of

1.25% plus margin that fluctuates based upon the Companys leverage ratio or the Eurodollar Rate

as defined in the Credit Agreement plus margin that fluctuates based upon the Companys leverage ratio

or ii the greatest of 25% the pnme lending rate as set forth on the Reuters Screen RTRTSY1 or

such other comparable publicly available rate if such rate no longer appears on the Reuters Screen RTRTSY1
the weighted average

of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with members of the Federal

Reserve System arranged by federal funds brokers pius 1/2 of 1% or plus the Eurodollar Rate At

December 31 2010 the interest rate on the revolving credit facility was 4.5%

The Credit Agreement contains representations warranties covenants terms and conditions including

madmum leverage ratio minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and minimum net worth financial covenants

limitations on liens ii incurrence of debt iii investments iv distributions and mergers and asset

dispositions covenants to preserve corporate existence and comply with laws covenants on the üs of

proceeds of the credit facility and default provisions including defaults for non-payment breach of represen

tations and warranties insolvency non-performance of covenants cross-defaults and guarantor defaults The

occurrence of an event of default under the Credit Agreement could result in all loans and other obligations

becoming immediately due and payable and the credit facility being terminated and allow the Lenders to

exercise all rights and remedies available to them with respect to the collateral

As of December 31 2010 the Company was in compliance with all of its financial covenants Future

scheduled principal payments of debt obligations as of December 31 2010 are as follows in thousands

Amount

2011 334

2012 354

2013 38175

2014 398

2015 4958

Thereafter 5914

--

$50133

Income Taxes

The Companys TRSs are subject to federal and state income taxes The Companys TRSs are structured

under one of two TRS holding companies that are treated separately for income tax purposes TRS and TRS

respectively The consolidated income tax expense is solely attributable to the taxable income of TRS

TRS has future income tax deductions of $0.3 million related to accumulated net operating losses and the

gross deferred tax asset associated with these future tax deductions is $0.1 million TRS has recorded

valuation allowance equal to 100% of the gross deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty of realizing the

benefit of this asset due to the TRSs limited operating history and the taxable losses incurred by TRS since

its inception
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The components of income tax expense for the year ended December 31 2010 are as follows in

thousands

Year Ended

December 31 2010

Current

Federal $13

State

Income tax expense $17

The tax effect of each typeof temporary difference and carryforward that gives rise to the deferred tax

asset as of December 31 2010 are as follows in thousands

December 31 2010

Deferred taxassets

Net operating loss carryforwards 106

Valuation allowance 106

Net deferred tax asset

Dividends Declared and Paid

The Company declared common share dividends of $0 175 per share and distributions on LTIP units of

$0 175 per unit for each of the third and fourth quarters of 2010 The dividends and distributions for the third

quarter were paid on October 29 2010 to common shareholders and LTIP unit holders of record on October 15

2010 The dividends and distributions for the-fourth quarter Were paid on January 14 2011 to common

shareholders and LTIP unit holders of record on December 31 2010

Shareholders Equity

Under the Companys itial Declaration of Trust of the Company the total number of shares initially

authorized for issuance was 1000 common shares On October 30 2009 the Company issued Mr Fisher the

sole shareholder of the Company 1000 common shares at $10.00 per share

Effecttve March 31 2010 the Company Declaration of Trust was amended and restated to authorize the

issunce of 500 000 000 common shares $0 01 par value per share and 100 000 000 preferred shares

$0.01 par value per share. ach outstanding commpn share entitles the holder to one vote on all matteis

submitted to vote of shareholders Holders of common shares are entitled to receive distributions authorized

by the Cpmanys board ftwstees Qn April 21 2010 th Company completed its which resulted in the

sale of 625 000 common shares at $20 00 price per share generating $172 million in gross proceeds Net

proceeds were approximately $158.7 million after net underwriters discounts and commissions and other

offering costs Underwriting thscountsand offering costs of $13.8 million have been recorded as reduction in

additional paid-in capital Concurrently with the closing of the IPO in separate private placement pursuant

to Regulation .D under the Securities Act of 1.933 as amended the Company sold 500000 of its common

shares to the Companys Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer at the public offering price of

$20.00 per share for proceeds to the Company of $10 million Following the close of the IPO the Company

repurchased the 1000 shares initially issued in October 2009at $10.00 per share
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10 Earnings Per Share

The following is reconciliation of the amounts used in calculating basic and diluted net loss per share

in thousands except share and
per

share data

For the Year Ended

2010

Numerator

Net loss attributable to common shareholders 1211
Dividends paid on unvested restricted shares 27
Undistributed earnings attributable to unvested resthcted shares

Net loss attributable to common shareholders excluding amounts attributable

unvested restricted shares 1244

Denominator

11 Weighted average number of common shares basic 6377333

Effect of dilutive securities

Unvested restricted sharesl

Compensation-related shares
___________

Weighted average number of common shares diluted 6377333

Basic Earnings per Common Share

Net loss attributable to common shareholders per weighted average common

share excluding amounts attributable to unvested restricted shares 0.20

Diluted Earnings per Common hare-

Net loss attributable to common shareholders per weighted average conmon
share excluding amounts attributable 1o unvçstqd restricted shares 0.20

Anti-dilutive for all periods presented

11 Equity Incentive Plan

On April 2010 the Companys sole shareholder apprOved the Equity Incentive Plan the Equity

Incentive Plan to attract and retain independent trustees executive offiCers and other key employees and

service providers The Equity Incentive Plan provides for the grant of options purchase common shares

share awards share appreciation rights performance units and other equity-based awards including grants of

restricted common shares and long term incentiVe plan umts LTJP Units Share awards generally vest over

period of three to five
years

based on continued employment The Equity Incentive Plan is admimstered by

the Compensation Committee of the Company Board of Trustees the Compensation Committee who has

the ability to approve
all terms of awards The Compensation Committee also has the ability to approve who

will receive grants and the number of common shares subject to the grant The Equity Incentive Plan is

scheduled to terminate on Apnl 2020 but will continue to govern unexpired awards

The number of common shares initially authorized for issuanCe is-5.65359 under the Equity Incentive

Plan In connection with share splits dividends recapitalizations and certain other events the Companys

Board of Trustees will make adjustments that it deems appropriate in the aggregate number of-common shares

that may be issued under theEqUity Incentive Plan If any shares covered by an award are not purchased or

are forfeited if an award is setded in cash or if an award otherwise terminates without delivery of any shaies

then the number of common shares counted against the aggregÆtenumber of shares available under the Equity
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Incentive Plan with respect to the award will to the extent of any such forfeiture or termination again be

available for making future awards On April21 2010246960 .LTIP Units were granted to the Companys

executive officers In addition on April 26 2010 and May 20 2010 the Company issued 40000 and 36550

restricted comition shaEes to the Companys Independent Trustees and executive officers respectively During

the third quarter7200 shares granted to the Companys former.Chief Financial Officer CFO vested

3250 shares granted to the Companys former CFO were forfeited and 15435 LTIP Units granted to the

Companys former CFO were forfeited Also during the third quarter 10450 restricted common shares and

26250 LTIP Units were granted to the Companys current CFO In addition portion of the Companys
share based compensation to the Company trustees for the year ended December 31 2010 was distributed in

January of 2011 in the form of 12 104 common shares The quantity of shares was calculated based on the

average closing pnces for the Company common shares on the NYSE for the last ten trading days preceding

the reporting date The Company would have distributed the same quantity of shares had the liability classified

award have been satisfied as of December 31 2010 This amount is recorded in the balance sheet in accounts

payable and accrued expenses as of December 31 2010 As of December 31 2010 there were 223 834

commOn shares available for future grant

Restricted Share Awards

The Company measures compensation expene for restricted share awards based upon the fair market

value of its common shares at the date of grant Compensation expense is recogmzed on straight line basis

over the vesting period and is included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying

consohdated statements of operations The Company pays dividends on nonvested restricted shares

sunm-iary of the Companys restricted share awards for the year ended December 31 2010 is as

follows

Number of Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Nonvested at January 2010

Granted 87000 19.02

Vested 7200 18.86

Forfeited 3250 18.86

Nonvested at December 31 2019 76550 $19.04

As of December 31 2010 there were $1 million of unrecogmzed compensation costs related to

restricted share awards As of December 31 2010 these costs were expected to be recognized over

weighted average period of approximately 2.4 years For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company

recognized approximately $0.4 million in expense related to the restricted share awards This ekpense is

included in general and administrative expenses the accompanying consolidated statement of operations As

of December 312010 7200 shares wer vested

Long-Term Incentive Plan Units

Under the Equity Incentive Plan each LTIP Unit issued is deemed equivalent to an award of one common

share thereby reducing the availability for other equity awards on one-for-one basis The Company will not

receive tax deduction for the value of any LTIP -Units granted to employees LTIP Units whether vested or

not will receive the same per unit profit distributions as other outstanding units of the Operating Partnership

which profit distribution will generally equal pershare dividends on the Companys common shares Initially

LTIP Units have capital account balance of zero and will not have full parity with common Operating

Partnership units.with respect to liquidating distributions The Operating Partnership will revalue its assets
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upon the occurrence of certain specified events and any increase iii valnation will be allocated first to the

holders LTIP Units toequalize the capital accounts of such holders withthe capital accounts of the

Operating Partnership unit holders If such parity is reached vested LTIP Units maybe converted at any time

into an equal number of common units of limited pthnership interest in the Operating Partnership

OP Units which may at the election of the holder be redeemeby the Company for cash or in the

Companys sole and absolute discretion exchanged for an equivalent number of the Companys common

shares

On Apnl 21 2010 the Company Operating Partnership granted 246 960 LT1P Units to the Company

executive officers pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan all of ihch are accounted for in accordance with

FASB Codification Topic ASC 718 Stock Compensation The LTIP Umts granted to the Company

executive officers vest ratably over five year penod beginning on the date of grant On September 2010

the Company Operating Partnership granted 26 250 LTIP umts to the Company new CFO and 15 435 LTIP

units granted to the Company former CFO were forfeited

The LTIP Units fair value was determined by using discounted value approach hi determining the

discounted value of the LTIP Units the Company considered the inherent uncertainty that the LTIP Units

would never reach parity with the other OP Units and thus have an economic value of zero to the granteev

Additional factors considered in reaching the assumptions of uncertainty included discounts for illiquidity

expectations for future dividends no operating history as of the date of the grant sigmficant dependency on

the efforts and services of the Companys executiie officers and other key members of management to

implement the Corripanys business plan available acquisition opportunitie tnd economic environment and

conditions The Company used an expected stabilized dividend yield of 5.0% and risk free interest rate of

2.33% based on five-year U.S Treasury yield

The Company recorded $0.5 million in compensation expense related to the LTIP Units for the year

ended December 31 2010 As of December 31 2010 there was $3.4 million of total unrecognized

compensation cost related to LTIP Units This cost is expected to be recognized over 4.3 years which

represents the weighted average remaining vesting period of the LTIP Units As of December 31 2010 none

of the LTIP Units have reached parity

12 Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The nature of the operations of the hotels exposes the hotels the Company the Operating Partnership and

the TRS Lessees to the risk of claims and litigation in the nQrmal course of their business he Company is

not presently subject to any matenal litigation nor to the Company knowledge is any litigation threatened

Hotel Ground Rent

The Altoona hotel is subject to ground lease with an eEpiration dat Of April 30 2029 with an option of

up to 12 additional terms of five years each Monthly payments are determined by the quarterly average room

occupancy of the hotel as follows with base rent equal to approximately $6 thousand per month when monthly

occupancy is less than 85% and can increase up to approximately $20 thousand per month if occupancy is

100% with minimum rent increased on an annual basis by two and one-half percent 2.5%

In connection with the New Rochelle hotel there is an air rights lease and garage lease that expire on

December 2104 The lease agreements with the City of New Rochellecover the space above the parking

garage that is occupied by the hotel as well as 128 parking spaces in parking garage that is attached to the

hotel The annual base rent for the leases is the Companys proportionate share of the citys adopted budget

for the operations management and maintenance of the garage and established reserves fund for the cost of

capital repairs TotalS lease payments for the year ended December 31 2010 were $31 thousand
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The following is schedule of the minimum future obligation paymentsrequired under the ground leases

in thousands

2011 201

2012 203

2013 205

2Q14 207

2015 210

Thereafter 11 871

Total 12897

Condominium Leases

The White Plains hotel is part of condominium known as La Reserva Condominium the Condomin

ium The Condominium is comprised of 143 residential units and four commercial units The four

commercial units are owned by the Company and are part of the White Plains hotel The White Plains hotel is

comprised of 129 of the residential units owned by the Company and four residential units leased by the

Company from iinaffiliated third party owners The remaining 10 residential units are owned and occupied by

unaffiliated third party owners

The Company leases residential units in the White Plains hotel from individual owners the Condo

Owner The lease agreements are for years with one-time year renewal option The White Plains hotel

has the righi to sublease the unit to àæy third party Hotel Guest for such rent and on such terms as the

White Plains hotel may determine Each Condo Owner may reserve the unit for seven days in any calendar

quarter or two weeks in any calendar year Each Condo Owner is also obligated to reimburse the White

Plains hotel for renovations that were completed in 2008 Minimum annual rents payable to the Condo Owner

are approximately $70 thousand per year and amounts receivable from the Condo Owner for its renovation

reimbursements are approximately $11 thousand per year subject to balloon repayment at the end of the

lease term of any remaining reimbursements The White Plains hotel is responsible for paying assessments to

the Condominium association on monthly basis for all residential units owned and leased The White Plains

hotel provides certain services to the Condominium association for housekeeping maintenance and certain

other services and receives compensation from the Condominium association for said services

13 Related Party Transactions

The Company paid $3.2 million to reimburse Mr Fisher for expenses he incurred in connection with the

Companys formation and the IPO including $2.5 million he funded as earnest money deposits for the

Companys purchase of the Initial Acquisition Hotels Mr Fisher had also advanced $14 thousand to the

Company which was included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated

balance sheet as of December 31 2009 which was reimbursed following the close of the IPO

Mr Fisher owns 90% of Island Hospitality Management Inc IHM hotel management company
The Company has entered into hotel management agreements with IHM to manage three of its hotels

Management and accounting fees paid to IHM for the year ended December 31 2010 were $0.2 million
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Quarter Ended 2010

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

In thousands except per share data

Total revenue $4658 $8383 $12429

Total operating expenses 5291 8720 11920

Operating income loss 633 337 509

Net loss attributable to common shareholders 642 288 287

Loss per common share basic and diluted1 0.09 0.03 0.03

The sum of
per share amounts for the four quarters may differ from the annual per share amounts due to

the required method of computing weighted-average number of common shares outstanding in the respec

tive periods

15 Subsequent Events

On January 31 2011 the Company signed contract to acquire an upscale extended stay hotel in

Pittsburgh PA for $24.9 million The acquisition will be funded in part through the assumption of an existing

$7.3 million mortgage loan with the balance funded from available cash

The Company completed public offering on February 2011 The offering resulted in the sale of

4600000 common shares at $16.00 price per share generating $73.6 million in gross proceeds Net proceeds

were approximately $69M million after underwriters discounts and commissions and other offering costs paid

to third parties

14 Quarterly Operating Results unaudited
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This property is pledged as collatral to borrowings made under the revolving credit facility obtained on October 12 2010

rowings of $37800 as of December 31 2010

CHATHAM LODGING TRUST

SCHEDULE 3- REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

December 31 2010

Accumulated Depreciation

Depreciation Life

125 40 Years

183 40 Years

242 40 Years

161 40 Years

Description

Year of

Acquisition Encurmbrances Land

Initial Cost

Buildings

Improvements

Cost Cap Sub

to Acq Land

Cost Cap Sub
Gross

to Acq Bldg

Improvements Land

In thousands

Amount at End of Year

Buildings

Improvements Total

Bldg

Improvements

Homewood Suites Orlando Maitland FL

Homewood Suites Boston Billerica MA
Homewood Suites Minneapolis Mall of America

Bloonsington MN
Homewood Suites NashvilleBrentwood TN

Homewood Suites Dallas Market Center Dallas

TX

Homewood Suites HartfordFarmington CT

Hampton Inn Suites Houston Houston TX

Residence Jnn Holtsville Holtsville NY

Courtyard Altoona Altoons PA

Springhill.Suites Washington Washington PA

Residence Inn White Plains White Plains NY
Residence Inn New Rochelle New Rochelle NY
Homewood Suites Carlsbad Carlsbad CA

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

6924

5408

1800

1470

3500

1525

2500

1325

3200

2200

1000

2200

3900

7200

10555

13960

9300

7583

9375

12709

18765

10730

10692

17677

20281

27520

1800

1470

3500

1525

2500

1325

3200

2200

1000

2200

3900

7200

10557

13961

9301

7584

9377

12709

18765

10730

10692

17677

20281

27520

9000

12027

17461

10826

10084

10702

15909

20965

10730

11692

19877

20281

31420

7200

10557

13961

9301

7584

9377

12709

18765

10730

10692

17677

20281

27520

131

162

159

194

95

95

121

122

111

Grand Totals 24620 176347 24620 176354 200974 176354 1901

40 Years

40 Years

40 Years

40 Years

40 Years

40 Years

40 Years

40 Years

40 Years

which had outstanding bor



Notes

The change in total cost of real estate assets fof the year ended December 31 2010 is as follows

Balance as of December 31 2009

Acquisitions 200967

Capital expenditures and transfers from construction-in-progress

Balance as of December 31 2010 $200974

The change in accumulated depreciation and amortization of real estate assets- fof the
year ended

December 31 2010 is as follows

BalanceasofDecember3l2009

Depreciation and amortization 1901

Balance as of December 31 2010 $190l
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